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Certificate of
Achievement
for Excellence
in Financial
Reporting

Presented to

School Employees
Retirement System of Ohio

For its Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report

for the Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, 1995

A Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial
Reporiing is presented by the Government Finance Officers

Association of the United States and Canada to
government units and public employee retirement

' systems whose comprehensive annual financial
reports (CAFRs) achieve the highest
standards in government accounting

and financial reporting.
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S &ool F-mploy ees Rdver wnt $ stern -
45 NOBTH FOUBTH STREET . COLUMBUS, OHIO432'15-3634 . TELEPHONE (614'j2?2-5859

THOMAS F. ANDERSSN
Executtue Airector

FOBERT E. HARTSOSK
Deputy Direator and
Member SeNloes

December 16, 1996

Dear President and Members of the Retirement Board;

W'e are pleased to submit to you the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the School
Employees Retirement System of Ohio (SERS) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1996. The report

provides information about the financial operations of the System, including management's steward-

ship of the funds entrusted to the System and compliance with all legal requirements placed on the

System. The management of SERS has responsibility for the &ccuracy of the contents and the com-

pleteness and faimess of the presentation. Our internal accounting controls are designed to ensure

the security of member and employer contributions, to assure responsible safeguarding of our assets

and to provide a degree ofreliabiiity to all our financial records,

The report is divided into six sections:

. the Introductory Section which contains a Letter of Transmittal, along with the identification of the

administrative organization, Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting and a

$ummary of federal and state legislation affecting the System over the past year;

. the Financial Section which contains an independent accountants'report from our cerlified public

accountants, Coopers & Lybrand L.L.P., and the financial statements of the System;

. the Actuarial Section which contains a letter expressing the opinion ofour consulting actuaries,

Gabriel, Roeder, Smith & Company and results of their annual actuarial valuation;

' the Statistical Section which includes significant data pertaining to the System;

. the Investment Section which includes the investment report and schedules of portfolio activity for

the past year; and

. the Plan Summary Section which provides a concise explanation of the various benefit plans which

we provide to our members.

SERS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee retirement system established by the Ohio

General Assemhly in 1937 to provide retirement benefits to employees of the Ohio public schools

who are not required to possess a qertificate in order to perform their duties. Benefits provided to par-

ticipants in SERS include age and service retirement, disability benefits, survivor benefits, death

benefits and post-retirement health care benefits. For a more complete description of employees

JIMMIE L. KINNAN
Qeneral Qounsel

PAUL M, KUBINgKY
lnvedtmentg

JOEL E. SOFRANKO
Finance

TERESA R. WOOTLEY
Mt6
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eligible for membership in SERS, as well as benefits provided upon retirement, disability or death,
please see the Plan Summary Section on page 66.

Economie Enuironment

Last year we commentecl on the banner year for the stock marketo one in which the Dow Jones

Inclustrial Average (DJIA) topped 4000 and marked a 25 pereent increase from the beginning to the

end of our fiscal year. Fiscal 1996 saw an almost identical performance of the DJIA. In November

1995 it topped 5000, just nine months after closing above 4000. Over ourfiscal year, the DJIA

increased by 24Vo, the broader S&P 500 Index grew by 237o. Stock market analysts cite a combina-

tion of moderate economic growth? Iow inJlation, steady job growth and falling interest rates for this

continuing buli market. The strong per{ormance of stocks has provided SERS' podfolio with an excel-

lent rate of return for 1996. The portfolio returned 16.8% and I6.6Vo for the years ending June 30,

1996 and 1995, respectively, outperforming its total portfolio benchmark.

Major Initiatives

During the fiscal year, v/e hired four active fixed income managers and six active equity managers,

Two money managers were hired this summer to actively manage a portion of SERS' international

equity portfolio. These eight manager$ will oversee approximately 4A7o of our equity portfolio, the

balance will continue to be managed passively. W'e also will survey Ohio-based money managers to

c{etermine if there are any who would complement the per{ormance of SERS' existing managers,

Recommendations on hiring will be presented to the Board in the second quarter.

We selected four HMO's to add to our health care programo providing retirees in the most populated

areas of the state with one or more alternatives to their curent plan, effective January I,1997 .

Meetings were held around the state in October to explain the program of each provider. Because of

the positive response we received? we extended the open enrollment period from four to six weeks.

Although the HMO's are currently available in27 of Ohio's 88 counties, we anticipate some will

expand their coverage area in the months to come. 
'We 

also will continue to seek expansion of the

program by aclding more HMO's for the next open enrollment in October 1997.

The quinquennial actuarial review was completed this year for the period ending June 30, 1995.

Several changes were made to actuarial assumptions, the most significant being the increase in the

investmenl rate of return from7.75 percent to 8.25 percent, These changes in the actuarial a$sump-

tions are effective for the year ended June 30, 1997.

The investment staff, Board and our investment consultant, Frank Russell Co,, will evaluate our asset

allocation during fiscal year 1997. If revision of asset class targets are necessary, we will make those

changes in the second half of the fiscal year.

First introduced in 1995, Senate Bill (S.8.) 82 includes legislation covering all five of Ohio's public

retirement sy$tems. It replaces the 'olegal list" of investment securities with a "prudent person" stan-

dard that allows SERS greater flexibility in choosing investments while emphasizing the joint aims of

protecting principal and maximizing income. S.B. 82 also requires the systems to maintain an amorli-

zation period for unfunded pension liabilities of not longer than thirty years and to provide an actuari-

al report annually to the General Assembly. SERS supported this bill, which was passed by the

General Assembly in November 1996.
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During the past year, the activities of SERS, as one of the five statewide retirement $ystems, 'were

reviewed bry the Joint Legislative Committee to Study Ohio's Public Retirement Plans. SERS was
pleased to have had the opportunity to participate in this legislative review and to provide informa-
tion regarding SERS' activities, policies and procedures.

Awards

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to SERS for its comprehensive
annual financial report for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1995. The Certificate of Achievement is a
prestigious national award recognizing conformance with the highest standards for preparation of
state and local govemment financial reports.

'In orcler to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must pub,lish an easily read-
able and efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial report, whose contents conform to pro-
gram standards, Such reports must sadsfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applic-
able legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. SERS has received a Certificate of
Achievement for the last eleven consecutive years (fiscal years ended 1985-1995). We believe our
current report continues to conform to the Certificate of Achievement Program requirements, and we
are submirting it to GFOA.

SERS received rhe Public Pension Principles Achievement Award from the Publie Pension
Coordinating Council for 1996. The purpose of the Achievement Award is to promote high profes-
sional standards for public employee retirement $ystems. It is based on compliance with twenty spe-
ci{ic principles that underline retirement system achievements in the areas of benefits, actuarial val-
u&tions, financiai reporting, investing and disclosure to members. The award remains in effect for two
years.

Invesfuents

SERS invests accumulated fundo to maximize both current income yield and long-term appreciation.
The primary objective of our investment policy is to assure that the System meets its responsibilities
for providing retirement and other benefits. The portfolio is diversified to maximize total return on
assets while operating within prudent parameters of risk, to protect principal from severe deprecia-
tion during adverse market conditions and ts achieve investment results competitive with those of the
broad market. Details of portfolio composition, rates of retum and information concerning our invest-
ment policy and operations are provided on pages 44 through 65 ofthis report,

The market value of the inyestments of the System was $5,323 million at June 30, 1996, an increase
of ffi792 million from the previous year. For the last ten years, $ERS has experienced an ayerage
annualized return of L0.04o, At June 30,1996, the carrying value of our investment podfolio was
structured as follows: 31.0Va in debt securities; 49.44o in equity securities; I3.4Vo in short-term
investments: and 6,27o in real estate.

Schuul  f ' *p l r lees Ret i rea, tent  Systew o/ '  Ohia



Finaneial Highlights
The financing of retirement and health care benefits is derived from employee and employer contri-

butions and through investment earnings" Revenues from employee and employer contributions were
gf38.2 million and $238.6 million, respectively, while income from investments totaled $581.6 mil-

lisn. In 1995, we realized a net gain of $578"6 million when the equity portfolio was converted to
passively managed commingled equity funds; thus 1996 inveslment income was less than the previ-

ous year. The employee and employer contribution rates during fiscal 1996 remained unchanged

from the prior year at97o and IAVo, respeetively.
7996 Revenue

Operating Revenue
(Eryressed in Millions)

L996 1995
Member Contributions $f38.2 $133.9

Employer Contributions 238.6 227 '7

Investmenl Eamings .. . . . . . , , . . . , . . , . , . . . . . .  581.6 ?86.0

Other . . . . . . , . . . . . .  2.2 2.7

Increase Increase
Amount Percentage

$4.3 3.210

I0.9 4.8

(204.4) (26.0)

. (.5) (r8.5)

Increase Increase
1995 Amount Percentage

8272.7 $18.6 6.87o

BB,3 L,9 2,L

L7.7 .5 2.8

9.9 0.0 0.0

2.9 .6 2.r

$960.6 $1,rs0.3 t(18e.?) (16.27:

Expenses are incurred primarily for the purpose for which SERS was createdo the payment of bene-

fits. Included in the total expenses for fiscal 1996 were benefit payments, refunds of contributions

due to member terminations or deaths, transfers of contributions to other Ohio Systems to provide

benefits for those members who had membership in more than one sy$tem, and administrative

expenses and benefits. Health care expense increased 2.IVo versus last year's increase of 3.37o.

While claims paid by our primary carrier fell, they were offset by the rise in payments to our mail

order prescription provider. The increase in retirement payments resulted from the growth in the

number of new benefit recipients and their higher base pensions'

Opemting Expenses
(Expressed in Millions)

LW6
Retirement Payments $29f .3

Health Care Payments 90.2

Refunds 1B'2

Administrative Expenses 9,9

Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  3 .5

7996 Expenses

$391.5 fi2r.6 5.SVo

Funding and Resewes

Funds are derived from the excess ofrevenues over expenses, and are accumulated by SERS in order

to meet current and future benefit obligations to retirees and beneficiaries. The higher the level of

funding, the larger the accumulation of assets and the greater the investment income potential. Net

ineome for the fiscal year 1996 resulted in an increase in the fund balance of $547.5 miilion.

Investmanb (60.6010)

Other (0.2%)

Other (0,8%)
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The actuarial valuation for funding purposes? dated June 3A, L996, reflects an unfunded accrued lia-

bility for pension benefits of S1,351 million. This liability represents the difference between the eom-
puted aetuarial accrued liability to be paid members and retirees ancl total valuation assets for basic

benefits. As depicted in the accompanying chart, we have reduced our funding period significantly

Fiscal Funding Ratio of Assetc
Year Period (inyearn) toAA.t

1992 4Q 777o
1993 40 734o

1994 40 73%o

1995 35 74Vo

1996 34 787o

and increased our ratio ofassets to accrued actuari-
al liabilities. This is the result of the Board's focus
on sound financing principles, pmdent investments
and firm control ofcocts. At June 30, 1996 and
1995, the pension benefit obligation, a standardized
disclosure measure ofthe actuarial present value of
credited projected benefits, was $5,822 million and

$5,755 million, respectively.

The employer contribution rate of IAVo is allocated
by Board policy to cover the nonnal cost and amortization of the unfunded actuarial acerued liabili-

ties for basic pension benefits; the remainder goes toward the funding of post-retirement health care

benefits. To provide additional funding for health care benefits, employers pay a surcharge for mem-

bers whose salary is less than a minimum amount. In 1995, the Board adopted pay-as-you-go funding

of health care benefits and designated a minimum reserve for health care expenses to be maintained

atI2SVo ofannual health care expenses. At June 30,1996 the health care reserve etands aIISLTo of

the $90.2 million recorded in health care expenses for the fiscal year.

Additional information regarding funding is provicled within the Actuarial Section (pages 32 to 38) of

this report.

Acknowledgemen*

The preparation of this report is the combined effort of the System's staff under the direction of the

Retirement Board. It will be mailed to all employer members of SERS and other interested parties.

Summary financial information will be distributed to active and retired SERS membership.

The cooperation of SERS' employers contributes significantly to the success of SERS and is greatly

appreciated, We would also like to express our gratitude to the Board, the staff, consultants and oth-

ers who help ensure the successful operation of the School Employees Retirement System.

Respectfully sub4jtted,
n / )

fl**,-tUM
Thomas R. Anderson
Executive Director

Director of Finance
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During the past year, the Ohio General Assemhly has

eonsidered varioas legislatian which would impact SERS.
The fallowing significant legislation was passed:

H. B. 123 (Effective 6/5/96)

This legislation allows certain spouses of deceased mem-

bers of SERS, PERS and STRS to continue to receive sur-
vivor benefits despite remarriage if the remarriage occuls

after age fifty-five. Under prior law, survivor benefits ter-

minated if the spouse remarried prior to age sixty-two.

H. 8.365 (Wective 9/27/96)

This legislation changed the cost of living adjustment
(COI,A) calculation. Under prior law, a 3% COLA was
granted in those years when the increase in the CPI (plus

the retiree's banked points) equaled or exceeded 374.
Under the new law, a COLA equal to any increase in the

CPI for the year (plus the retiree's banked points) not to
exceed 3Vo is granted each year.

H. 8. 450 (Wecrtve n/29/96)

This legislation conformed SERS'military service credit
statutes to the requirements of the Uniformed Services
Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994
(USERRA). The legislation also changed the calculation
of interest charged on purchase of military serryice credit
for non-intemrpted public service.

H. 8. 6ffi (Effective 12/6/96)

This legislation provides that where a member of SERS is
convicted of a sexual offense committed in the context of
employment, the court may order restitution and the resti-
tution may be paid from the individual's retirement sys-
tem benefits upon the court issuing a withholding order.

S.B. 82 (Effective 3/6/97)

This legislation replaces SERS' o'legal list" investment

authority with a oopmdent person" standard of authority.

The legisiation also requires SERS to attain and maintain

a 3O-year amofiization period for unfunded accrued pen-

sion liabilities and to provide an annual actuarial report

to the General Assembly.

In additian ta these enaated bills, SERS has been mani-

toring the following pending bills:

H .8 .586

This legislation establishes an alternative retirement pro-

gram for the purpose of providing academic/administra-

tive employees of public institutions of higher education

two or more retirement plans as an altemative to partici-

pating in a state retirement system. Under the proposed

legislation, an employee of a public institution of higher

education may, not later than 90 days after the date of

employment or 120 days after commencement of the

alternative retirement program, make an irrevocahle elec-

tion to participate in an altemative retirement plan

offered by the public institution ofhigher education. Each

public institution of higher education who employs an

electing employee shall contribute to the applicable state

retirement sy$tem, on behalf of the employee, an amount

equal to 6Vo of the employee's compensation to lessen

any negative financial impact caused by the alternative

retirement plan upon the state retirement system" As of

December 1I, 1996, this legislation had patsed the

General Assembly and was awaiting signature by the

Governor.

s.8.101
This legislation would allow school districts to "privalize"

or enter into a contract with a private entity to operate the

sshool district and hire all employees. Membership of the

employees in SERS and STRS would be optional. The

legislation is pending in the Senate Education and

Retirement Committee and is unlikely to pass this term.

Scnool E'wp/oyees Retirenrent Systern of Oltio 1t



Federal Legislation
The impact o{ Congressional and federal regalatory activ-
ities upon SERS has increased during recent yearc,
SERS monitors activities on the federal level, and when
neces*arT, contacts appropriate Congressional represen-
tatives and regulatoty agencies in an effbrt tu educate
them as to the impact of their activities on SERS and its
members ancl beneficiaries" Significant activities on the
federal level over the past year include the following:

Public Employee Pension Liahi&ty Aet of 1995

H. R. 1683. lhis legislation, introduced on May 23,Igg5
by Congressman Andrewo, which is a new version of
PEPPRA or PERISA, would establish a federal cause of
action for failure ofstate/local employee pension plans to
meet the terms of their plans. The bill would also create a

Qualified Review Board to evaluate changes in employer
contributions and other chanses which affect pension

plans.

Social Secwity: Offset

H.R. 2167. This legislation, introduced on August 2,
1995 by Congressman Jefferson, would change the

formula for calculation of the Offset. The legislation pro-
vides that the reduction in Social Security benefits that is
required in the case of spouses and surviving spouses
who are also receiving certain government pensions shall
be equal to the amount by which the total amount of the
combined monthly benefits before reduction exceed

$1,200. Where sombined SER$ and Social Security ben-
efits are $1,200 or less, there would be no redustion in
the retirant's Social Security benefit. The bill has heen
referred to the House Ways & Means Committee.

Taxation: Section 475

H.R. 3448 (Effective 8120196). This legislation amends
Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code to lessen its
impact on public retirement systems. The legislation
enacts a uniform definition of oocompensation", exempts
governmental plan benefits from the I00Va of compensa-
tion limitation, authorizes govemmental plans to establish
excess plans and provides that governmental plan dis-
ability retirement and survivor benefits are not subject to
Section 415.
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Coopers
&Lybrand

Coopors & LJbrand L.L,P

a professronal setvrces lrm

Report of lndependent Accountants

Memben ofthe Retircrnent Boad
School Employees Retirrcment System of Ohio
Columbu,Ohio

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of School Employees Retirement Sys'tem of Ohio as of Jute
30, 1996 and 1995, and ttre related statemenls ofrevenueg expenses and changes in fund balances and cash
flows for the years then ended. These financial $tatemenls are the responsibility of ttrc System's management.
Our responsibility is to express anopinionon tlrese financial stratements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generaUy ac{€pted auditing standards and Government Auditing
Stwdsds, issued by ttre Compftoller Geneml of tlre United States. Those standads require that we plan and
perform the audit to obAin reasonable assumnce about whetlrer the financial $tat€menls are firce of material
misshtement An audit includes exarnining, on a test basis, evidence supporting tlre amounts and disclosures in

the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and sigrrificant
estimates made by managemerrt, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement Fesentation. We believe
tlrat our audits provide areasonable basis for our opinion.

In ow opiniorl such financial $tatements present fairly, in all material respecls, the financial position of School
Employees Retirement System of Ohio as of June 30, 1996 and 1995, and the results of its operations and its

cash flows for tl1e years ttren ended in cnnformity with generally accepted accourting pdnciples.

In accordance vith Governmen! Auditing Standods, we have also issued a report dated December 6, 1996 on
or.5 cornideration of the Systems intemal confol strrlcturc and a report dated December6, 1996 on its

compliance with larvs and regulations

Our audits were conductd forthe purpose of forming an opinion on the basic fin;ancial statements taken as a

whole. The financial section schedules listed in tlre able of contents ae presented forthe purpose of additional
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such schedules as of and for the yean

ended Jwre 30, 1993 ttrough 1996 have been subjected to ttre auditing procedr.ues applied in the audits ofthe
basic financial shtements and" in oru opiniorl are fairly stated in all material rcspects in relation to the basic
financial statenents taken as a whole. Ttre schedules as of and for the years ended June 30, i987 ttuough 1992
were rcported upon ry other auditors, whose reports stated that the schedules were fairly stated in all material
rcspects inrclation to the basic financial stalements taken as awhole.

ed*r 6 -/J0, I L.u ?
/ / /

Columbw,Ohio
Dec.ember6, 1996

Coopss & Lybrand L.L.P. is a member ql C@pers & Lyb.and International, a liDiled liability assmiation iocarporaled io Sqltzerland
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Balance Sheets
June 30, LW6 and 1995

Assets:

Cash (note 5)

Receivables:
Contrihutisns:

Employers (note 4)
Employees (note 4)
State of 0hio subsidies

Accrued investment income
Investment sale proceeds

Total receivables

Investments, at cost (mar-ket $5,323,3?9,617 and
fi4,53L,257,072, respectively) (note 5)

Property and equipment, at cost (note 6)
Less accumulated depreciation

Net property and equipment

Other assets (note 7)

Total assets

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (note 9)
Investment commitments payable
Health care benefits incurred and unpaid
Other liabilities (note 7)

Total liabilities

Net assets available for benefits

Fund balance (note 3):
Pension benefi t obligation:
Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits
and terminated employee$ not yet receiving benefits

Current employees:
Accumulated employee contributions,

including allocated investment income
Employer financed portion

Total pension benefit obligation
Unfunded pension benefit obligation payable
Health care reserye

Total fund balance

S* aecompaaying natas to financial Etlltarrenta.

206,920,746 167,551,685

4,783,875,939 4,169,809,429

5,810,405 5,159,207

2,278,832 II,792,304

4,998,885,882 4,355,295,322

L996

r29,392,418
II,416,293

484,005
27,700,64r
37,927,349

L4,136,577
8,326,L72

2,rr3,632
97,887,064
14,661,589
2,049,697

_..116,7111978
fi4,ffi2,173,904

$ 2,928,610,118

1,105,310,501
r,788,270,062

5,822,190,68I
(1,075,821,088)

135,804,311

fi 4,ffi2,L73,9M

1995

982,697

125,997,67I
13,375,258

558,295
20,830,188
6,790,273

12,560,838
7,401,63r

r,226,352
244,504

17,377,136
T,75T,23I

20,599,223

fi 4,334,696,099

fi 2,83L,057,704

r,o34,4r7,Q49

- 1,889,1,301193

5,754,604,946
(1,558,118,841)

138,209,994

fi 4,334,696,W
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Statements of Revenues, Expenoes
and Changes in Fund Balance
Years ended June 30, L996 and 1995

Revenues:

Contributions:
Employers (note 4)

Employeee (note 4)

State of Ohio subsidies

Transfers from other Ohio systems

Investment inqomer

Interest and dividends

ReaI estate income, net

Net gain on sale of investments

Total revenues

Expenses:
Benefits:

Retirement
Disability
Survivor
Health care
Death

Refund of employee contributions

Administrative expenses

Transfers to other Ohio systems

Total expenses

Net income
Fund balance, beginning of year

Fund balance, end ofyear

See acaompanying notea to finaacial statements"

L996

$ 238,552,082
L38,25I,468

4B4,T4B
L,7L7,I39

379,004,837

157,688,701
20,216,740

403,697,289

24L,967,864
34,235,98I
r4.268,272
90,2r2,2II

836,775
38t,521,I03

18,218,091
g,g4B,7rr
3,441,857

.., 4r3,122,7,62
547,477,8O5

4,334,696,099
$ 4,882,173,904

I995

ffi 227,703,212
I33,9Q7,577

558,865
2,ro4,026

364,273,680

r71,873,344
16,3Q4,595

59?,813,359

226,834,067
3r,r29,68r
13,854,968
88,340,780

890,783
361,050,279

17,730,959
g,B69,B45
2,857,771

391,508,854

758,756,I24
3,575,939,975

$ 4,334,696,@9

581,602,730 785,99r,298
960,607,567 rJ54,264,978
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Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended June 30, 1996 and 1995

Cash flows from opera,ting activities:

Contributions received

Benefits paid

Refunds of employee contributions

Administrative expenses paid

Transfers to other Ohio systems

Net cash used in operating activitiee

Cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds from investments sold

Purchase of investments

Investment income, net of investment expense$

Net cash provided by investing activities

Cash flows from capital and related finaneing activities:

Additions to property and equipment

Net cash used for capital and financing activities

Net decrease in cash

Cash at beginning of year

Cash at end ofyear

Reeonciliation of operating income to net cash

used in operating activities;
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to

net cash provided by operating activities:

Invectment income, net of investment expenses

Increase in contributions receivable
Depreciation (non-investment)

Decrease (increase) in other assets
Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses

Decrease in health care benefits incurred

and unpaid
Increase in other liabilities

Total adjustments

Net qa"sh used in operating activities

Sae accompanying notes to dinancial statementl.

(573,939,203) (806,877,169)

(26,461,398) (48,r21,045)

L996

377,643,345
(374,359,655)
(18,218,091)
(8,085,140)
(3,44r,857)

(26,46r,398)

16,776,03I,313
(16,9r9,r91,839)

170,33L,773
27,r7L,247

(I,692,546)

(r,692,546)
(982,697)
982,697

547,477,8O5

(58r,602,728)
(1,361,493)
1,04r.347
9,5I3,472

BB7,2BO

(2,715,547)
298,466

1995

353,79L,772
(372,286,013)
(r7,730,959)
(9,038,074)
(2,857,77r)

(48,r2r,045)

6,137,4r5,637
(6,289,016,327)

L99,75q,652
48,L58,962

(316,875)
(316,875)
(278,958)

1,261,655

982,697

758,756,124

(785,991,298)
(10,481,908)

738,406
(r0,r79,092)

135,077

(1,358,781)
260,427
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Notes To Financial Statements
June 30, Lg96 and 1995

7, Description of the System

Organization - The School Employees Retirement System

of Ohio (SERS) is a cost-sharing multiple-employer pub-

lic employee relirement cy$tem established by the Ohio

General Assembly in 1937 to provide retirement benefits

to employees of Ohio public schools who are not required

to possess a certificate in order to per{orm their duties.

The accompanying financial statements comply with the.

provisions of the Governmental Accounting Standards

Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, The Financial

Reporting Endfl. ThiE statement requires that financial

statements of the reporting entity include all of the orga-

nizations, activities, functions and component units for

which the reporting entity is financially accountable.

Financial accountability is defined as the appointment of

a voting majority of the component unit's board and either

(1) the reporting entity's ability to impose its will over the

component unit, or (2) the possibility that the component

unit will provide a financial benefit to or impose a finan-

cial trurden on the reporting entity. SERS does not have

financial accountability oyer any entities. Responsibility

for the organization and administration of SERS is vested

in the Retirement Board. SERS is not considered part of

the $tate of Ohio financial reporting entity. There is no

financial interdependency with the State of Ohio, nor

does the State of Ohio provide oversight authority for the

System. The Retirement Board is the governing body of

SERS. It is comprised of four elected employee-members,

one elected retiree-member and two statutory members.

Employer and employee membership data as of June 30

follows:

Employer Members

Local . . . . . . . . .
Ci ty . . . . . . . . . . .
County
Yillage
Vocational
Technical
College
Other . . . . . . . . .

Total . . . . . . " . . . .

Employee Members L996 1995

Retirees and beneficiaries
currently receiving benefits
and terrninated employees
entitled to henefits but not
yet receiving them 60.206 5B,B3B

CrurentEmployees L996 1995

Vested 62,797 62,763
Non-vested .....". 3.8,9q0 38,021

Tota1........... IOL,777 llgJgl

Benefits - Members are eligible for retirement benefits
based upon age and service credit as follows: age 60 and
eaming 5 years of service credit; between ages 55 and 60
and earning 25 years ofservice credit; or earning 30
years of service credit at any age. The benefit is equal to
2.IVo of the member's final average salary, or a minimum
of $86, multiplied by the numher of years of credited ser-
vice. Members are eligible for disability benefits after
completion of5 years ofservice. Qualified dependents of
a deceased member are eligible for monthly survivor ben-
efits. Death benefits of$500 are payable upon the death
of a retiree to a designated beneficiary.

Members with credited service in the State Teachers
Retirement System (STRS) or Public Employees
Retirement System (PERS) are eligible to teceive trans-
ferred credited service and funds from either or both of
those systems. Any service which is not concurrent with
service within SERS will be included in the determina-
tion of retirement benefits. Similarly, a member with
credited service and funds in SERS may transfer such
service to STRS or PERS upon retirement.

Retireee of any of the five state retirement systems must
contribute to SERS if they are employed in a non-cenifi-
eated position in the public schools. These contributions
are credited to a separate money purchase annuity
payable after age 65 in either monthly payments, if the
monthly amount is $25 or more, or in a lump sum'

Prior to July 1, 1986, all members receiving a benefit

from SERS were elieible to receive health care benefits.

1996 1995
37r 37r
193 193
76 83
49 49
49 49
t o  f  o
r.D I.f

22
.4  6
757 766
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Notes To Financial Statements (Confinued)

Mernbers who retire effective July 1, 1986 or later must

have at least ten or more years of service sredit to qualify

for the health care benefits. Effective August l, 1989, 1)

members retiring with more than 10 but less than 25

years of service credit were required to pay from 25Vo lo

75Vo of the health insurance premium and 2) the SERS

portion ofspouse and dependent health insurance premi-

ums was reduced from 50Vo ta 3OTo.

2. Summary of Sifficant Aceaunrtng Polieies

SERS' financial statements are prepared using the acaru-

al basis of accounting. The following are the significant

accounting policies followed by SERS:

Investnents - Income on all investments is recognized on

the accrual basis. Gains and losses on sales and

exchanges of investments are recognized on the transac-

tion date. All investments are subject to adjustment for

market declines determined to be other than temporary.

Investments in real estate funds are canied at cost or

adjusted cost.

Investments in venture capital are accounted for using

the equity method.

Investments in fixed-income securities and mortgage

loans are reported at amortized qost with discounts or

premiums amortized using the constant yield method.

Gains ancl losses on fixed-income securities are recog-

nized using the FIFO method.

Investments in common and preferred stocks are carried

at cost. Gains and losses on stock sales are recoqnized on

the basis of the average cost.

Investments in shorl-term obligations, principally co{po-

rate commercial paper, U.S. Government agencies and

repurchase agreement$, are caried at amortized cost,

which approximates market value.

Gains and losses from foreign currency contracts are net-

ted against the basis of the underlying investments.

OfFee Buildingo Equipment and Fixtrues
(Non-Investnent Assets) - Offise building, equipment
and fixtures are capitalized at cost when acquired.
Improvements which increase the useful life of the prop-
erty are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are charged
lo expense as incurred. Depreciation has been provided
using the straight-line method over the following useful
lives;

Deacription

Furniture and equipment
Building and improvements

Estimated
Lives (years)

3-10
40

Federal Income Tax Status - SERS is a qualified entity

under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code and is

therefore exempt from federal income taxes.

Health Care Benefits Incurred and Unpaid - Amounts

accrued for health care benefits payable are based upon

estimates furnished by the claims administrator. Such

estimates have been developed from prior claims experi-

ence.

3. Funding Staw and Pmgress

The amount shown as the "pension benefit obligation" is

a standardized disclosure measure ofthe present value of

pension benefits, adjusted for the effects of projected

sblary increases, estimated to be payable in the futute as

a result of employee service to date. The measure is the

actuarial present value of credited projected benefits and

is intended to help users assess SERS' funding status on

a going-concern basis, assess progress being made in

accumulating sufficient assets to pay benefits when dueo

and allow for comparisons among public employee retire'

ment plans. The measure is independent of the actuarial

funding method used to determine contributions to SERS.

The pension benefit obligation was determined as part of

an actuarial valuation ofthe plan as ofJune 30, 1996 and

1995.
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Notes To Financial Statements (

As a result of the five-year study of actuarial assump-
tions, change$ were made for the actuarial valuation as of

June 30, 1996" The following significant assumptions

were used in the actuarial valuations as ofJune 30, 1996
and 1995:

Rate of return on inveetments

Projected salary increases

Post-retirement mortality

Rates of withdrawal from active service

LW

8.257o compor-rnded annually (net of
administrative expenses).

4.257o compounded annually, attributable
to inllation; additional inereases ranging
from IVa to 57o per year attributable to
seniority and merit.

1971 Group Annuity Table pmjected to
1984 set back 1 yearforwomen and men.

Developed on basis of actual plan experi.
ence.

L995

7.757o compounded annually (net of
administrative expenses).

4.7 |Va compoundod annually, attributable
to inflation; additional increases ranging
from lVo to \'Vo per year attributable to
seniority and merit.

l97l Group Annuiry Table projected to
1984 set back 1 yearforwornen and men.

Developed on basis ofactual plan expeli-

At June 30, 1996 and 1995 the unfunded pension benefit obligation for basic retirement benefits was S 1,075,82I,088 and

$ 1,558,118,84I as follows:

r996 1995

Pension benefit obligation:

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits
and terminated employees not yet receiving benefits

Cunent employees;
Accumulated employee contributions including
allocated investment income .......

Employer financed - vested

Employer financed - non-vested

Total pension benefit obligation

Net assets available for benefits, at cost (market
$5,285,873,27L and $4,557,933,748, respectively)
excluding health care resetre

Unfiurded pension benefit obligation

$ 2,928,610,118 fi 2,83T,057,704

I,r05,310,501

1,665,568,580

r22,701,482

I,Q34,417,049

1,713,890,455

175,239,738

5,822,I90,68I

4,746,369,593

5,754,604,946

4,196,486,r05

$ 1,075,821,088 $ 1,558,118,841

During the year ended June 30, 1996 the plan experienced a net increase of $67,585,735 in the basic benefits pension ben-

efil obiigation. Of that change, $0 was attributable to amendments and $(271,514,937) was attributable to changes in

ascumpti0ns.
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Notes To Financial Statements (eontinued)

4. Contihutions

The Ohio Revised Code requires contributions by active

members and their employers. Contribution rale$ are

established by the Retirement Board within the allowable

rates established by the Ohio Revised Code' The adequa-

cy of employer contribution rates is determined annually

by actuarial valuation using the entry age normal cosl

method. Active members and their employers are

required to contribute 9Vo andLAVo,respectively, of

active member payroll.

The current employer contribution rate is allocated to

basic retirement benefits and health care by the

Retirement Board. For fiscal year L996, the allocation of

the employer contribution rate to basic retirement bene-

fits has been established as the rate necessary to cover

normal cost, plus an amortization of the unfunded actuar-
ial accrued liabilities over a 34-year period. The employ-

er contribution rate (L Vo) is allocated 10.5Vo to basic

benefits and the remaining 3.57o is allocated to health

care benefits. Significant actuarial assumptions used to

determine the adequacy of contribution rates were the

same as those used to compute the standardized measure

of the pension benefit obligation.

During fiscal year 1995, the Retirement Board decided to

discontinue advance-funding of health care benefits on
an actuarially-determined basis. Starting with fiscal year

1995, the Board adopted pay-as-you-go funcling of health

care by targeting a reserye for health care benefits equal
ta L25 percent of annual health care expenses. Thus the

target level for 1996 is S112.8 million, but the actual bal-
ance is $135.8 million ao follows:

July 1, 1995 balance $ l3B'2
Additions B7.B
Reductions \9-0.2)

June 30. 1996 balanc" $ 1?l1
Employer and employee contributions required and
made repres ented IAVo and 9Vo, respectively, of active
member payroll and amounted to $210.8 million and

S135.5 million, respectively, in L996. For basic benefitn,
the employer contributions consisteil of $80'2 million for
normal cost and $81.4 million for amofiization of the
unfunded actuarial aocrued liability. Employee contribu-
tions are applied to normal cost.

The health care surcharge on employers is collected for

employees eaming less than an actuarially-determined
minimum pay, pro-rated according to ser"rice credit
earned. For fiscal years 1996 and 1995, the minimum
has been esrablished as $11,800 and $1.1,200, respec-
tively. The surcharge accrued for fiscal years 1996 and
1995 and included in contribution revenue from employ-
ers in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and
Changes in Fund Balance is $23.0 million and $21.8 mil-
lion, respectively.

5. Cash Depasits and Investurcnts

Cash Deposits - By statute, the Treasurer of the State of
Ohio (Treasurer) serves as custodian for all SERS
deposits. Deposits are classified into three categories of
credit risk to give an indication of the level of risk
assumed by SERS. Category I includes deposits insured
or collateralized with securities held by SERS or its agent
in the name o{ SERS. Category 2 includes deposits collat-
eralized with securities held by the pledging financial
institution's tmst department or agent in the name of the
Treasurer. Category 3 includes deposits which are uncol-
lateralized.

As of June 30,L996, the carrying amount of SERS'
deposits was $0 and the bank balance was $1,352,454.
Of the bank balance, $100,000 was insured by the
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The remaining
bank balance was uncollateralized. The carrying amount
ofdeposits is separately clisplayed on the balance sheet
ag "Cash",

Investments - SERS is authorized to invest in bonds,
notes, certificatee of indebtedness, mortgage notes, teal
estate, stocks, shares, debentureso or other obligations or
securities as set forth in the Ohio Revised Code.

2L



Notes To Financial Statements (Continued)

Market yalues of securities are based primarily on quota-
tions from national oecurity exchanges and securities
pricing services. Market values of investments in the real
estate and venture capital fundo are based sn information
provided by fund managers.

In accordance with Statement No. 3 of the Govemmental
Aecounting Standards Board, SERS'investments are cat-
egorized to give an indication ofthe level ofrisk assumed
by SERS at year-end. Category I includes investments
that are insured or registered, with securities held by the
Treasurer or custodi'al agent bank in SERS' name.
Category 2 includes uninsured and unregistered invest-
ments, with securities held by the counterparty's trust

The following investment summary identifies the level of risk assumed by SERS:

Category 1

department or agent in SERS' name. Category 3 includes
uninsured and unregistered invectments, with securities
held by the counterparty, or by its trust department or
agent, but not in SERS' name.

In accordance with a contractual relationship between the
Treasurer and a custodial agent bank, all securities sub-
ject to categorization are Calegory 1 investments held in
book entry form in a unique account so as to be identified
at all times as the poosession of SERS. Direct mortgage
loans, commingled stock funds, real estate funds, and
venture capital funds are investments which by their
nature are not categorized for level ofrisk purposes.

U.S. government obligations

and U,S, government agency

obligations
Corporate bonds & notes

Caaadian bonds

Common & preferred stock

Commercial paper

Repurchase agreement
FHTMC discount notes

FFCB discount notes

FNMA diecount notes

Total

Real estate

Domestic stock commingled funds

International stock commingled funds
Venture eapital
Direct modgage loan

Total

fi 1,063,480,474
362,965,874
32,3r2,8L6

527,665,738
5I5,940,003
56,539,000
36,936,5r7

, 23,720,000
7,787,369

Category 2 Calegory 3 Calr,'ing Yalue

$ 1,063,480,474
362,965,874
32,3T2,8T6

527,665,738
515,940,003
56,539,000
36,936,517
23,720,OQO

,, 7,787,369

2,627,347,791

297,7r7,414
1,391,084,881

402,497,550
39,rI4,7Ir
26,L13,592

Market Yalue

s 1,056,856,999
357,10r,665
3L,840,667

525,919,937
5I5,940,003
56,539,000
36,936,517
23,720,040
7,787,369

2,612,642,r57

298,243,57r
1,859,336,911

487,928,675
39,114,7rr
26,7r3,592

fi 4,78A,875,939 fi 5,323,379,6L7

fi 2,627,347,79r $ 0 $
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Notec To Finaneid Statements (Continued)

Foreigrr Currency Conraets - Forward currency eontracts
are legal agreements between two parties to purchase and
sell a foreign currency? for a price specified at the con-
tract date, with delivery and settlement in the future.
SERS enters into foreign curreney contracts to hedge the
foreign currency movements of assets held in the MSCI-
EAFE fund. The System hedges 504o of the value of its
assets in the MSCI-EAFE fund to minimize the volatility
of the underlying currency movements. As of June 30,
t996,SERS had outstanding contracts in the amount of

fi226,258,8l0 which had a maturity date of October 1,
1996 and net gains on rejoined contracts of $32,215,825
for the year. The System is exposed to credit loss in the
event of non-performance by the other party to the con-
tracts, however, the System does not anticipate non-per-
formance by the counterparty.

Derivatives - The Ohio Revised Code authorizes SERS to
invest in various types of instruments. The System has
investments in mortgage-backed, asset-backed, interest-
only strips, principal-only strips and adjustable-rate
securities at year'end. These securities serve to maximize
yields and to offset volatility in the Fund due to interest
rate fluctuations. The System is exposed to market risk in
the event ofchanging interest rates, securily prices, and
principal values of these individual securities. The
System is also exposed to credit risk in the event that suf-
ficient collateral is not maintained by the issuert of the
asset-backed securities in case of default, however, SERS
is not aware ofany such instance. The market value of
these securities totaled $664.8 million and $566.3 mil-
lion at June 30, 1996 and 1995, respectively, represent-
ingI2.4Vo of the market value of all investments in each
ofthese fiscal years.

6. hoperty and Equipment (Non-Investuent Assets)

A summary of property and equipment at June 30 follows:

L996 1995
Land . . . . . . . . . .  $ 1,178,055 $ 1,178,055
Building and
improvements .."....... 4,268,349 4,16I,499

Furniture and
equipment 8,69A,173 7,22L,284

Less accumulated
depreciation

L4,136,577

8,.326,17-2
$ 5,BlO,4o5

7. Detenod Compensarton

Employees of SERS may elect to participate in the Ohio
Pukrlic Employees Deferred Compensation Program
(Program), created in acsordance with Internal Revenue
Code Section 457. Under the Program, employees may
elect to defer a portion oftheir pay until a later date, usu-
ally after retirement. The deferred pay and any income
earned thereon is not subject to income taxes until actual-
ly received by the employee.

As of June 30, 1996, the market value of investments in
the Program totaled fi2,049,697 and has been included in
other assets. Under the terms of the Program agreement,
these monies are subject to the claims of SERS' general
creditors. Accordinglyo this amount is reflected as an
asset along with a corresponding liability to the employ-
ees participating in the Program. Participating employees
are general sreditors of SERS with no preferential claim
to the deferred funds, Investments in the Program are
held by the Program's agent in SERS' name.

8. Defined Benelit Pension Plan

SERS contributes to the Public Employees Retirement
System of Ohio (PERS), a cost-sharing multiple-employer
defined benefit plan. Under the authority granted by
Section I45 of the Ohio Revised Code, PERS provides
retirement, disability and survivor benefits for the public
employees of Ohio. PERS issues a publicly available
financial report that includes financial statements and
required supplementary information. That report may be
otrtained by writing PERS, 277 East Town Street,
Columbus, Ohio 43215.

Plan members are required to contribute B.\Vo of earn-
able salary and employers are required to contribute at an
actuarially determined rate. The curuent rate for miscel-
Ianeous employers is 13.557o of annual covered payroll.
The contribution requirements for employees and
employers are established and may be amended within
statutory limits by the PERS Board. The payroll for
employees covered by PERS for the year ended June 30,
L996 was $4,104,369; SERS' total payroll was
ff4,242,770. SERS' contributions to PERS for the years
endingJune 30, 1996,L995 and1994 were $556,142,
$564,658 and $552,799, respectively, equal to the
required contributions for each year.

12,560,838

7,40L,63L
# 5,759,207
:
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Notes To Financial Statemento (eontinued)

In addition to pension benefits, PERS provides

post-employment health care benefits, in accordance with

state statutes, to all employees who retire. with 10 or more

years of qualifying Ohio service credit and to disability

recipients. At December 31, 1995, the plan had approxi-

mately 365,000 active participants.

A portion of each employer's contribution to PERS is set

aside for the advanced funding of post-employment

health care. Of the I3.55Vo of employee payroll con-

tributed by SERS to PERS, S.IIVo, or approximately

$210,000, was the porlion used to fund health care.

Statutory rates equal the actuarially determined contribu-

tion requiremento.

The actuarial present value of accrued post-employment

benefits was deteruined based on the entry age normal

method of funding. Significant actuarial assumptions

used in the December 3I,1994 valuation (most recent

available) were (a) investment rate of return of 7.757o, (b)

investments valued at book value plus or minus realized

or unrealized investment gains and losses amortized at

25Vo per annum over a four-year period. (c) no change in

the number of active employees, (d) base pay rate

increases of 5,257o and annual pay increases over and

above the 5.257o base increase ranging ftom}Vo to S.IVo,

and (e) health care increases of 5.25V0 annually.

Net assets held in trust at December 31, 1995 for post-

employment health care benefits were $7.2 billion.

Unfunded actuarial accrual liabilities for local and mis-

cellaneous employers are amortized over a period of28

years for L994 (the moct recent valuation).
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9. Compensated Absenees

As ofJune 30,1996 and 1995, $325,715 and $314,028,
reepectively, was accrued for unused vacation and sick
leave for SERS' employees. Employees who retire or
resign are entitled to full compensation for ail earned
unused vacation. Unused sick leave pay is forfeited upon
termination. However, employees who retire, become dis-
abled or deceased after five years of service are entitled
to reeeive payment for a percentage of unused sick leave.

10. Contingent Liabilities

SERS is a party in various litigation. While the final out-
come cannot be determined at this time, management is
of the opinion that the liability, if any, for these legal
actions will not have a material adverse ef{ect on SERS'
financial position.

11, Histoical Trend Infannation

Historical trend information designed to provide informa-
tion about SERS'progress made in accumulating suffi-
cient assets to pay benefits when due is presented imme-
diately following the notes to the financial statements.

72. Aecounting Policies

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB)

has issued Statement 25 Financial Reporting for Defined
Benefit Pension Plans and Note Disclosures {or Defined
Contribution Plans and Statement 26 Financial Reporting
for Postemployment Heakhcare Plans Administered by
Defined Benefit Pension Plans. The requirements for
both statements are effective for periods beginning after

June 15, 1996.



Schedule I

GASB Statement No. 5 requires the presentation of ten
years of comparative actuarial statistical data, disclosing

(1)
Net Assets Q)

Fiscal Available Pension Benefit
Year for Benefitc Obligation

the progress made in accumulating assets to pay benefits

when due. (Dollar amounl$ are expressed in millions')

Basic Retirement Benefits

(4)
(3) Unfimded

Percentage Pension Benelit (5)
Funded Obligation Covered

0) dilidedby (2) (2) tTy.J+) Payroll

1987 $1,930
1988" 2,107
1989 2,3Lr
1990 2,513
1991** 2,722
1992 2,930
1993 3,172
1994 3,453
L995 4,196
1996**>F 4,746

s I33
133

72.9Vo
69.9
69.I
68.6
64.6
64.5
&.7
66.2
72.9
Br .5

Health Care Benelits

ffiz,646
3,4r7
3,346
3,662
4,2I4
4,546
4,90r
5,2r7
5,755
5,822

$1,006
99I

1,065
1,135
1,24I
r,436

$ 716
910

1,035
I,T49
r,492
L,616
1,729
I,764
1,558
L,076

s 931
982

1,055
1,119
r,I76
I,244
1,313
1,361
1,430
1,476

(6)
Unfunded Pension
Benefit Obligauon

as a Percent of
Covered Payroll

(a) divided by (5)

76.97o
92.6
98.1

r02.7
T26,8
r29.9
131.7
r29.6
109.0
72.9

1989 r44
1990 L49
r99r** r4I
1992 136

1987
1988*

1993
t99&

13.5
13.1
r1.4
9.5

87.3
88.1
93.5

L3.2Vo $ 873
t3.4 858

92r

l,Ioo
1,300
1,395

$ 931 93.BVo
982 87.4

I,055
986 1,119

1,I76
r,244 104.5
I,313 106.2L22

r23
I ,517 8.0
r,541

+ In fiecal 1988, plan benefit provisions were amended. The amendments had the effect of increasing the pension benefit obligation for basic bene-
. fite by $1f9.4 million, and decreasing the pension benefit obligation for health care $199.$ million.
** Changes to actuarial assumptions for fiscal 1991 increased the pension benefit obligation for basic benefits by $a9.5 million and for health care

by $7.0 million.
*** Changestoactuarialassumptionsforf iscal lgg6decreasedthepensionbenefi tobl igationforbasicbenefi tsby$271.5mil l ion.

Analysis of the dollar amounts of net assets available for

benefits, pension benefit obligation (both basic retirement

and health care benefits), and unfunded pension benefit

obligation in isolation can be misleading. Expresoing the

net assets available for benefits a$ a percentage of the

pension benefit obligation provides one indication of

SERS'funding ctatus on a going-concern basis.

Analysis of this percentage over time indicates whether

$ERS is hecoming financially stronger or weaker.

Generally, the greater this percentage, the stronger SERS

is. Trends in unfunded pension benefit obligation and

lee aeaoajanyiag tndependent audtton' report

8.0 1,418 1,361 rO4.2

annual covered payroll are both affected by inflation.

Expressing the unfunded pension benefit obligation as a

percentage of annual covered payroll approximately

adjusts for the effects of inflation and aids analysis of

SERS' progress made in accumulating sufficient assets to

pay benefits when due. Generally, the smaller this per-

centage, the stronger SERS is.

The actuarial assumptions for investment return and

post-retirement mortality are revised periodically based

on SERS'experience,

Sthoo/  €onployees Ket i reruent  Systew of 'Ohio 25



Schedule tr

Fiscal
Year
I9B7
I9BB
1989
1990
L99I
t992
r993
L994
\995
L996

L987
I9BB
1989
1990
1991
1992
r993
r994
1995
t996

Member
Connibutions

Employer
Contibutione

Revenues By Source

Investnxent
Income

Employer Conribution
Rate as a Percent

Total of Covered Payroll
Other

Revenues

$ B4,B4B,I70
89,667,853
96,422,050

104,105,361
109,310,197
117,331,597
r23,270,559
L28,246,355
r33,9a7,577
138,251,468

$ 135,032,693
r45,784,980
17L,094,7r0
r8o,544,377
188,465,132
202,42r,912
2L0,429,35r
216,383,274
227,743,212
238,552,082

$ 175,493,200 ffi2,52r,825
16r,724,032 2,280,893
lg3,B30,Bg7 2,448,403
L96,527,043 2,569,782
20r,820,479 1,98L,749
205,739,886 2,283,675
243,539,163 2,363,874
300,408,705 2,045,066
785,99L,298 2,662,89L
58r,602,730 2,20L,287

Expenses By Type

Transfers to
other Ohio
Retirement

Systems

$ 397,895,888
399,457,758
463,796,050
483,746,557
50r,577,557
527,777,O7O
579,602,947
647,083,400

L,r50,264,978
960,607,567

Refunds

14.OTo
14.0
14.0
14,0
14.0
14.0
14.0
14.0
14.0
14.0

Fiscal
Year Benefits

$192,787,851
2Q4,r78,239
227,333,363
255,285,627
276,925,099
302,422,078
324,386,556
339,173,588
36I,050,279
381,521,I03

Administrative
Expenses

ffi 6,599,526
6,689,OO9
7,4L9,675
7,942,036
8,565,124
8,586,487
9,726,019

10,037,313
g,869,845

9,948,711

$1,498,114
2,131,150
1,630,4r0
1,983,908
2,2A2,383
r,74r,637
2,747,590
2,665,r92
2,857,77L
3,441,857

fiLQ,267,756
9,79L,762

IL,468,I75
12,532,925
12,345,363
r2,75r,49L
13,513,992
13,908,639
L7,730,959
18,218,091

Total

ffizrr,L53,247
222,79O,L60
247,85r,623
277,744,496
300,037,969
325,501,693
350,374,r57
365,784,732
391,508,854
4L3,L29,762

lee accompanfing independent audtton' report

26 Stlt ool €nup Ioyets Keti retnentSystetn ,tf Ohi,t



$chedule Itr
Administrative Expenses
Years ended June 30, 1996 and 1995

Perconnel serYices:
Salaries and wages
Retirement contributions
Insurance

Total personnel services

hofessional serviees:
Technical and actuarial
Medical
Auditing
Employee training

Total professional services

Communications:
Pootage
Printing and publications
Telephone
Retirement counoeling services

Total communications

Other sen'ices and charges:
Computer support services
Building occupancy and maintenance
Transportation and travel
Supplies
Bquipment rental
Surety bonds and insurance
Memberships and subscriptions
Equipment repairs and maintenance
Retirement study commission
Miscellaneous

Total other services and charges

Depreciation (non-invesment) :
Furniture and equipment
Building

Total depreciation

Total adminienadve €xpensec

See aeeoupanying iadependent auditon' report.

I996

fi 4,242,770
556,L42
447,I12

432,rQz
379,345
35,842

LzB,2l4
975,503

4r2,586
254,852

49,IL6
L6,968

733,522

1995

ff 4,267,139
564,658
508,061

406,Q77
44r,354
39,440
97,57r

984,442

444,524
LAT,Z3T
52,722
7,329

64r,802

l , l98, l53
306,r77
185,541
83,745

LI6,L37
99,752
56,493
33,725
19,905
67,709

..2,L65,337
I,I3r,439

634,473
103,933
738,406

$ 9,869,845

5,246,O24 5,339,858

796,639
398,559
LgL,253
9I,I20

rr4,289
108,313
57,725
65,392
25,674

103,951
1,952,315
8,907,364

929,r75
II2,I72

I,04I,347

$ 9,9{8,711

Schoo/ €mp/oyees Ketirelnent System af Ohio 27



Investment Summarv
Sehedule tV

Corporate and govern-
ment bonds and
obligationo

First mortgage loans
and mortgage-backed
securities

Common and prefened
stocks (domestic)

Common and preferred
stocks (internationai)

Short-term investments

Real estate funds

Yenture capital
investments

Total Inveshnents

Year ended June 30, 1996

1995
Sales,

Redemptions
and

Accruals

1996 '
%o f
Total

Market Ma,rket
Ya1ue Yalue

Carrying
Va]ue

Market
Yalue

Purchasee
and

Aecredons
Carrying
Value

$ 864,419,115

581,040,918

L,766,452,098

386,235,308

3I7,869,973

2L8,93L,220

3e,860,797

$4,169309,429

$ 882,010,730 $

592,Q6L,737

2,118,83I,723

386,034,078

3I7,869,973

199,588,034

34,860,797

$4,531357,072

2,Q49,584,626

838,407,489

1,155,030,560

69,400,000

12,734,Q4r,054

146,946,774

29,453,084

$ (2,014,810,588)

(833,768,804)

(1,002,732,039)

(53,137,758)

(12,410,988,139)

(68,160,580)

_ (25,1ee,lTq)

$ 899,193,153

585,679,603

1,918,750,6t9

'402,497,550

640,922,889

297,717,4r4

39,rL4,7lL

$ 889,53I,69Q L6.74o

582,38r,233

2,385,256,8M

487,928,675

640,922,889

298,243,57r

39,1L4,7rr

$5,323,3?9,61? lW,Q{o

LI.0Vo

44.BVo

9.ZVo

12.07o

5.6Vo

Q,7VO

$17,022,863,58? $(16,,[Q8Jgz,O7?) $4,783,875939

L994

Year ended June 30, 1995

Salesn
Purchases Redemptions

Market and and Carrying
Yalue Accretions Acenrals Yalue

1995

Carrying
Value

4o of.
Total

Market Market
Yalue Yalue

Corporate and govern-
ment bonds and
obligations

First mortgage loans
and mortgage-backed
securities

Common and preferred
stocks (domestic)

Common and preferred
stocks (intemational)

Short-term
investments

Real estate funds

Venture capital
investments

Total Lrvestmouts

$1,093,675,78I $1,023,33?,070

586,484,498 587,737,078

r,I46,73t,377 r,742,160,649

269,913,071 269,9T3,07I

303,650,978 269,rL9,464

22,355,861 22,355,86r

$9,422,81L,566 $3,914,623,193

$ 356,050,780 $ (585,307,446) $ 864,419,115 $ 882,010,730 l9.5vo

90,732,39Q (96,L75,970) 581,040,918

2,357,476,932 (L,737,756,2II) t,766,452,098

386,236,033 (?25) 386,235,308

3,058,777,956 (3,010,821,054) 317,869,973

18,860,230 (103,579,988) 2L8,93L,220

16,630,500 (4,125"564) _34,860391_
fi62%,7&,82r fi(5,537,7ffi,958) $4,169,809,429

592,06L,737

2,LL&,83T,723

386,034,078

3r7,869,973

199,588,034

34,86Q,797

13.OVo

46.84o

B.5Vo

7.0vo

4.4Va

0,.lEo

84,53L,257,Q72 100.A%

Sec accoapanying indapendent auditors' report,
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Schedule Y
Fund Balance Accounts

Desciption of Aeeoun:ts (Funds)

Chapter 3309 of the Ohio Revised Code requires the
establishment and maintenance of specific funds. These
funds are classified as accounts for financial reporting
purposes and are noted as follows:

Employees' Savings Fund

The Employees'Savings Fund accumulates the contribu-
tions deducted from the compensation of members.
Contributions may be refunded to a member who with-
draws from SERS or to the member's beneficiary follow-
ing the member's death. Upon retirement, a member's
accumulated contributions are transfer:red to the Annuity
and Pension Reserve Fund.

Emplayen'Trust Fund

The Employerso Trust Fund is the depository for employer
contributions. Based on actuarial valuations, amounts are
transferred out of this fund into the Annuity and Pension
Reserve Fund and the Survivors' Benefit Fund.

Annuity and Pension Resarve Fand

The Annuity and Pension Reserve Fund is the fund from

which all retirement, health care and death benefits are
paid, Funds are transferred into the Annuity and Pension
Reserve Fund from the Employees' Savings Fund and the
Employers'Truet Fund.

Survivon' Benefrt Fund

The Survivors' Benefit Fund represents amounts tranc-
ferued from the Employees'Savings Fund and the
Employers' Trust Fund for the payment of survivors' ben-
efits.

Guarantee Fand

The Guarantee Fund records all investment earnings of
SERS. Annually, investment earnings are transferred to
the Annuity and Pension Reserre Fund, the Survivors'
Benefit Fund, and the Expense Fund.

Expense Fund

The Expense Fund is used to record all expenses for the
administration and management of SERS. Annually,
funds are transferred from the Guarantee Fund to cover
expenses incurred.

A summary of the fund balance accounts follows:

Expense Total Total
Fund L996 L995

Year ended June 30, 1996

Employees' Annuityand Survivors'
Savings Employers' Pension Benefit Guarantee
Fund TrustFund ReserveFund Fund Fund

Fund balance at
beginning of year

Changes for the year:
Contritrutions:

Employers
Employees

Net changes
Frmdbalance at
end ofyear

$1,034,417,049 $ 599,803,1?9 82,59r,958,32r$ 108,517,550 $4,334,696,099 $3,57s,939,97s

$6se ef Qhio subsidies
Investment income
Transfels from other

Ohio systems
Benefits:

Retirement
Disability
Survivor
Health care
Death

Refunds of employee
contributions (17,382,297)

Administrative expenses
Transfers to other

0hio system8
Other transfers (49,975,'llg) 148,510,534

238,552,082
13B,251,468

70,8%,4n 38?,06r,616

452,6L6 31,s32

r,664,787 52,352

(241,967,864)
(34,235,98r)

(r4,268,272)
(90,212,2r1)

(836,77s)

(835,7e4)

(3,32r,377) (120,480)
459,88?,080 L3,232,r24

90,594,48r $,A72,14!)

581,602,730

(9,9M,7rr)

(581,602,:30) _ 2,e48,1 I.I
547,477,805 758,756,124

238,552,082
138,251,468

4B4,T4B
58r,602,?30

T,7T7,L39

(241,967,864)
(34,235,981)
(r4,268,272)
(90,2r2,2rr)

(836,77s)

(r8,218,091)
(9,948,711)

(3,441,857)

227,703,212
133,907,577

558,865
785,99r,298

2,104,026

(226,834,067)
(31,129,681)
(13,854,968)
(88,340,780)

(8e0,783)

(r7,7ts0,959)
(9,869,845)

(2,857,771)

$1,105,310,501 ff986,865,795 $2,682,552,802 $107,444,806 &4,88.2,r73,m4 fi4,e34,696,W

See accompanying independent auditorc' report"
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Actuaryrs l.etter

GABRIEL, ROEDER, SMITI'I & COMPANY
qoniultantr & A€tuarlet

November26,1996 24 Woodbine Avenue . Northport. New York 1 1768. 516.757"0047 . 800.782-0144 r FAX 516-75?-0086

The Retirement Board
School Employees Retirement System of Ohio
Columbus. Ohio

Te basic. firqncial objective of SERS is.to establish and receive ppntribqtio4s whi9h. exoressgd as percents
of active member oavroll-will remain aDDroximatelv level from qeneration to mneration of Ohio eitizenr

In order to determine SERS present financial position and level contribution rates for the future, annual
actuarial valuations are made. The latest completed actuarial valuation is based upon data and
assumptions as of June 30, 1996. The data was supplied by System staff. While not veriSing the data at
the source, tssts were performed for consistency and reasonability. Conditions and results are shown in our
reports.

Assumptions concerning future financial experiences are needed for an actuarial valuation. These
assumptions are established by the Board after consulting with the actuary. A program of annual actuarial
gainlloss analysis is in operation; these analyses determine tlre relationship betwesn assumed financiat
experience and actual experience, for each major risk area. These actuarial gair/toss findings led to the
adoption ofsubstantial revised assumptions for the June 30, 1996 actuarial valuation.

The statutory employer contribution rate is 14% of pay. An SERS policy decision now provides the
following allocations: to basic benefits including beginning in 1995 the Medicare Part-B supplement, the
portion which will pay normal cost and 30 year amodization for unfunded actuarial accrued liabilitios: and
to health care benefits, the remainder ofemployer contributions.

Qn the basigof the 1926 valuatign and the basiE benpfits- including lhe Medicaie Pari-B $gpole.ment. and
a[oca(qd cqntribqtion r.ates theq,jn effecl.it is putopinio$.{rat,the basrg benefits oorrion"qiiERs is in
sound condition in accqrdance wigh actuarial pfinciples oflevel cosl_fina$ging.

The financial sondition of health care benefits is different, and is being significantly affeeted by the
provisions of Act 290 of 1988. Act 290 established a health care surcharge, a program to determine a
minimum arurual pay for use in calculating omployer contribution dollars.

Qn the basis sf the 1996 yaluation and thg-health care benefits. excludingJhe Medicare. Part-,B supplgment.
4nd 4llocakd c.o"ntribution rate$ then in efect. the,illoeated contributions qre sufficienj to,provide f'or a
health care roservo equal tg.125% ofestimaled annual clars qosts..the fundine target establiphed by &e
Board,in 1995.

Respectfu lly submitted,

,4
/jlta^7-_

ThoF* f. Cay69bgh, F.S.n.
\_/ rr

TJC/l$
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Statement of Aetuarry
Valuation as of June 30,L996

Actuarial Cost Method and Assumptions
B asic Ratirement Benelits

Employer contribution rates for basie benefits are deter-
mined using the entry,age normal aetuarial cost method.
This method produces an employer eontribution rate con-
sisting of (1) an amount for nonnal coat (the estimated
amount necessary to finance henefits earned by employ-
ees during the current service year), and (2) the amount,
for amortization sf the unfunded aetuarial ascrued liabili-
ty, The maximum statutory rate is I4To,

The present employer contribution rate of 14Vo is allocat-
ed between basic benefits and health care on the basis of
SERS' policy decision. For the year ended June 30,
1996, the policy required the determination of a rate for
basic benefits which will amortize the unfunded actuarial
accrued liabilities over a 34-year period, with the remain-
der of the employer contribution rate allocated to provid-
ing health care benefits. The rate determined for the
funding of basic retirement benefits for the year ended
June 30, 1996 is L0.5Vo"

Health Qare Benefra

Initially, beginning in1974, the contribution rate for
health care benefits was established at 0.75Vo, included
in a total employer contribution rate of I2.57o. Health
care contribution rates have been increased at various
times since L974, and, the total employer contribution
rate has been increased to the statutory LAVI maximum.
The portion of the employer contribution rate allocated to
health care for the year ended June 30, L996 is 3.57o.
Effective with the 1995 fiscal year the Retirement Board
replaced the level cost financing of health care with pay-
es-you-go financing. To provide program security and
stability, the asset target level for the health care fund is
125 per cent of annual health care. For 1996, this result-
ed in a health aare recerve of $135.8 million versus a tar-
geted level of $112.8 million.

In 1988, House Bill 290 provided for an employer contri-
bution surcharge as an additional source offunding for

health care. The sureharge is equal ta IAVo of the differ-

ence between the minimum pay and the member's pay,

pro-rated for partial serryice credit" For the fiscal years

1995 and 1996, the minimum pay has been established

as $11,200 and $11,800, respectively. The surcharge

rate, added to the unallocatecl portion of the I4% employ-

er contribution rate, provides for maintenanee ofthe anset

target level for the health care fund.

Actuafial Assumprtons

The assumptions used for the actuarial valuation were

adopted by the Retirement Board after consulting with

the actuary. The actuarial assumptions used in making

the valuation were revised as set forlh in the Gahriel,

Roeder, Smith & Company Investigation Report dated

April 11, L996 for the period from July 1, 1990 through

June 30, 1995, and were adopted as ofthe June 30, 1996

valuation. Differences between assumed and actual expe-

rience (actuarial gains and losses) become part of

un{unded aetuarial accrued liabilities. When these differ-

ences between assumed and actual experience have been

observed to be sizable and persistent, a change is made to
the actuarial assumptions.

The valuation assets as of June 30, 1996 were determined

on a market-related basis. The asset valuation method

recognizes assumed investment income fully each year.

Differences between actual and assumed investment

income are phased in over a closed five-year period. To

this was added the present value of expected future pay-

ments for House Bills 284 and2O4, or $1,878,486.

The following significant assumptions were used in the

actuarial valuation as ofJune 30,1996:

(1) a rate of return on the investments of 8.257o com-

pounded annually (net after administrative expenses).

The real rate of retum is the portion of iotal invest-

ment return which is more than the inflation rare.

Considering inflation recognition sf 4.25 percent, the

8.25 percent investment return rate translates to an

assumed real rate of return of 4 percent;

School €,*playe es lSetireurerlt  .9ysteru ot '  Olt ia 33



Statement Of Actuary (Continued)

(2)projeeted salary increases of 4.25Vo, compounded

annually, attributable to inflation;

(3)additional projected salary increases ranging fromLTo

to 5To per year, attributable to seniority and merit. Pay

increase assumptions for individual active members

are shown for sample ages in the following table.

lrcrease NextYear

(S)mortality of participants based on the 1971 Gmup
Annuity Mortality Tabie projected to 1984 eet back

one year for women and men;

(6)rates ofseparation from active service before retire-

ment are deveioped on the basis of actual plan experi-

ence. Probabilities of separation for sample ages are

shown in the following table.

hobabilities of Sepa.ration from Active
Employment before fu" & Service Retirement

Percent of Active Members
Separating within Next Year

Men

Sample
As6"

Merit &
Seniority (Economy) Torul

9.25Vo
8.55
8.05
6.65
5.25

20
30
40
50
60

5.QVo
4.3
3.8
2.4
1.0

Base

4.25Vo
4.25
4,25
4.25
4.25

Men Women

(4) eligibility for age and service retirement was acgumed

to tre: age 50 with 30 or more years of servicel age 55

with 25 or more years of service, or age 60 with 5 or

more years of service. Probabilities of retirement with

age and service allowance are shown in the following

table for sample ages.

Probabilities of Ase & Service Retirement
Percent of Eliiible Active Members

RetiringTvithin N ex t Year

Sample
fu6t

;
55
60
65
70
75

Sample
Ageg

Sample
Ae6t

20
30
40
50
60

Death Disability Other

Q.02Vo 0.00% 6.09Vo
0.M 0.10 4.60
0.08 0.36 3.42
0.24 0.80 3.06
0.60 2.75 2.20

'Women

Death Disability Oiher

20 O.QLVo
30 0.02
40 0.04
50 0.08
60 o.z\

0.00% B.04Vo
0.03 6.31
0.14 3.95
0.48 2.67
3.25 2.66SAVI

20
15
35
qtr

100

247o
1B
30
30
3B

r00

(7) 25Vo of eligible female retirants and 607o of eligible

male retirants are a$sumed to elect a joint and survivor

form of payment.
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Statement of Actuary (Continued)

Acanrial Acenrcd Liabihrtes

Accrued liabilities are the present value of plan promises

to pay benefits in the future, based upon service already
rendered. A liability has been established (accrued)
hecause the service has been performed, but the resulting

monthly eash benefit may not be payable until years in

the future. Aecrued liabilities are the result of complex

mathematieal calculations performed by a group of spe-

cialists, the plan's actuaries. The reeults of the eomputed

actuarial accrued liabilities, using the entry age normal

actuarial cost method, are disclosed in the following

schedule.

Basic Ben€fits

fi 2,7&9;997,60&
' 

: 138,612,510
2,755r2L4,755

332,082:,768
r,204,747'' 52,4651786

34,509,602
' ', 24,6g2,760
$.3,200, T9,118
fi 6,128,780,536

ActnarialAccruedUabilitiecJures0,l996: ' 
' 

, :,
. , .  : '  '  

" ', . .  r : . . , . : . ,  , :  - :  . ,  .  : :  .  . r .  
.  r j

Future,nronthly;benefits and death benefits to present retireei and survivors ".....'.........'.......".'.....
Monthly benefits and refunds to present inactive members

ServicealIowanceStopresentu"tiou*"*b"rs.............:....,.,.......:....,...
Disabiliry allowaneeq to present active members ...;';...".';;"'.....'..",'..'....'.';"..','"'..i'...'...'.';";*"'r"rr!'

, Death-after-retirement benefit ($500) on behalf of present active rner,nbers ...:,:,,......,..ri...n:.........
SurvivorbenefitsonbehaHofpresentactivememberswhodiebeforeretiring
Medica,le Fa* B supplement.".....,"......;.............".r.....: ' ...:..-.........:.":. ' :.......... ' ... ' . ...... ' .... ' ..;..-. ' . ' .-..
Refunds of mernber. contributione of prosent active mernbers;.....-.........."......'.'...:.:.'.....'.'.....':......'

3enefitsforpresentactivemembers;.'.'.."..'...........'......;..
'UenelIt$lorpresentcoveredpersons..,;. ' . ' . :.. '".... ' .... ' .. ' . . ' . ;. l .;.. i ...- ' ;....,... ' ;;..;,.... ' ....; ' ' . .
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Statement of Actuary (eontinued)

Memberehip Data

Information regarding activeo inactive, and retired mem-
trers is obtained from computer tapes provided by the

Active MemberYaluation Data. 1987 to 1996

retirement system. Membership data contained on the

computer tapes is examined and tested for reasonableness.

Retirants and Benefieiaries Added To

and Removed From Rolls,1987 to 1996

Actuarial Numher of
Valuatisn Active

as of June 30 Members

L9B7 89,534

1988 90,418

1989 9L,778

1990 93,L47

1991 93,574

L992 97,497

T993 99,135
L994 99,9L8
1995 100,784

1996 LAI,777

Annual
Payroll

(milions)
$ e31.4

981.8
r,055.4
I,l tB.?
t,L76,2
t,244.3
r  z t t  ?

1,360"9

L,429.6
L,475.9

Average
Annual
Suloy
$10,403

10,858
r1,500
12,010

12,570
12,762
13,242
r3,620

T4,TB4
14,501

Fiscal Year
Ended Adfitions

June 30 DuringYear
L9B7 3,155
1988 3,512

1989 3,140

1990 3,7L4
1991 3,534

L992 3,488
1993 3,303
1994 4,055

1995 3,532

L996 4"032

Deletions Number at
DuringYear End of Year

r,522 42,670

2,2L5 43,967

r,432 45,675

2,Q72 47,3T7

2,384 44,467

2,360 49,595

2,493 50,405

2,981 s1,479

2,598 52,4T3

2,967 s3,478
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Statement of Actuary (Continued)

5ummary of Unfunded Aeerued Liabikties

Each time a new henefit is added which applies to service
already renderedo an "unfunded accrued liability" is cre-
ated. Laws goveming the System require that these
unfunded accrued liabilities be financed systematically
over a period offuture years. Also, ifactual financial
experiences are lecs favorable than assumed financial
experiences, the difference is added to unfunded accrued
liabilities.

In an inflationary economy, the value of the dollar is
decreasing. This environment results in employee pay

Basic Benefits

Actuarial
Accmed

increasing in dollar amountc, retirement benefits increas-

ing in dollar amounts, and the unfunded accrued liabili-

ties increasing in dollar amounts; all at a time when the

actual substance of these items may be decreasing.
Looking at just the dollar amounts of unfunded accrued
liahilities can be misleading. Unfunded accrued liabili-

ties divided by active employee payroll provides an index
which clarifies understanding. The smaller the ratio of

unfunded liabilities to active member payroll, the

stronger the system. Observation of this relative index

over a period of years will give an indication of whether

the system is becoming financially stronger or weaker.

Valuation
Yg*
T9B7
19BB#
1989
1990
L99t
1991 *

L992
1993
1994
r995
L996
I996*x

T9B7
I9BB#
T989
1990
1991
1991f
1992
1993
r994

#2,899
3,307
3,658
4,003
4,265
4,346
4,693
5,052
5,381
5,839
6,I94
6,r29

$1,05r
1,051
T,128
L,205
I,295
1,31I
T,518
1,801
],834

$r37
139
152
158
1 C 1

154
L4I
141

Valuation
A::ets-

ffz,007
2,2Q4
2,438
2,686
3,015
3,015
3,330
3,673
3,952
4,310
4,766
4,778

($ In Millions)

Unfunded
Actuarial
Accrued

$ 892
1,103
r,220
1,3I7
t,250
1,331
1,363
r,379
L,429
t,529
1,418
1,351

$ 9I4
9L2
976

1,047
t,l3B
I,154
r,364
I,660
1,693

Ratio of
Assets
toAAL

69Vo

o /

o /

o /

77
69
7 l
73
' D

74
77
r o

ISVo

t3
T4
i3
12
12
I0

o

B

Active
Member
Payroll

s 931
982

1,055
1,1 19
1,176
I,176
1,244
r,313
1,361
1,430
1,476
1,476

s 931
982

1,055
1,1 19
1,176
T,T76
T,2M
1,313
1,361

UAAL as
a%o ot
Aetive

Member
Payroll

96Vo

I1?
I16

l lB

106

i r t

I 10
105
105
t07
96
92

9BVo
o q

93
94
97
9B

r10
126
r24

Health Care Benefits ($ In Millions)

T Legislated benefit increases

Revised assumptions

Revised assumptisns and asset valuation method

liabilities-(AAI)

.9chool  €mployees
'Ketireate 
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Statement of Actuary (Continued)

Shofi ConditianTest

If the contributions to SERS are level in concept and
soundly executed, the System will pay all promised bene-
fits when due - the ultimate test of financial soundness"
Testing for level contribution rates is the long-term test.

A shofi condition test is one means of checking a system's
progress under its funding program. In a short condition
test, the plan's present assets (cash and investments) are
compared with:

1) Active member contributions on deposit;

2) The liabilities for future benefits to pre$ent retired
lives:

3) The liahilities for service already rendered by active
memhers.

In a system that has heen following the discipline oflevel
pereent of payroll financing, the liabilities for active
member contributions on deposit (liability 1) and the lia-

bilities for future benefits to present retired lives (liability

2) will be fully covered by present assets (except in rare
circumstances). In addition, the liabilities for service
already rendered by active members (liability 3) will be
partially covered by the remainder of present assets. The
Iarger the funded portion of liabiiity 3, the stronger the
condition of the system. Liability 3 being fully funded is
rare.

June 30-Tmz-
r9BB
1988#
l9B9
1990
1991
1991 t
L992
1993
1994
1995
r996
1996{'*

(2)
Retired
Lives
TfuAT

r,462
1,513
1,696
I,872
2,025
1,973
2,L23
2,26I
2,426
2,700
2,886
2,790

(1)
Member

Contributions-$#4-

a t  I

577
627
684
749
749
BI6
B89
962

1,034
1,105
I,105

(1)
Member

Conributions

(3)
Preeent Members

$1,034
1,134
L,2r"l
1,335
L,447
1,491
L,624
L,754
1 0r)?
I qq4.

2,105
2,19ts
2,234

(3)
Present Memberg

$ 489
569
467
4BB
519
JO.t

586
685
949
98l

(4)
Valuation

Assets
Eom

2,205
2,205
2,438
2,686
3,015
3,015
3,330
3,673
3,952
4,310
4,766
4,778

(4)
Valuation

Assets-$18?

139
139
Is2
158
I A I

157
153
141
L4I

Basic Benefits ($ In Millions)
Ponion of Accrued

Liabilities
Covered by Assets

(r) e\ (3)
-

IO07o L0O4o l4%o
100 100 15
100 100 I
100 100 9
r00 r00 9
100 100 16
t00 100 lB
100 100 22
100 100 27
100 100 2B
100 100 27
r00 100 35
100 100 39

Portion of Accrued
Lia.bilities

Covered by Aseets

(1) e\ (3)
g

- 247o 0Vo
- 2 2 0
- 2 4 0
- 2 4 0
- 2 3 0
- 2 1  0

, r n
- 1 8 0
- T 7 0
- L 7 0

Health Care Benefits ($ In Millions)

a)
Retired
tiveeJune 30

T987
19BB
I9BB#
l9B9*
1990
1991
1991*
L992
1993
1994

s 562
623
584
644
686
73r
725
833
852
853

# Legislated benefit increaccs
* Revisecl assumptions

** Revised assumptions and asset valuation method

88 .9ch,to/ f 'urp/aye es,Ketireuent Systeru of Olrio
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Comparative Summary of Accrued Liabilities and
Percentage Covered by Net Assets Available for Benefits
Tahle I

Computed Aetuarial Accrued Liabilities

Member
Contributions

I 524,262,202
577,028,334
627,076,019
683,BI2,BBB
748,783,498

8L6,328,094
889,126,855
961,669,425

r,034,4L7,049

1,r.05,310,501

JuTe 10
T9B7
}9BB
1989

1990
1991
L992
L993

L994
1995
L996

Current
Retirants

and
Beneficiaries

$I,903,559,908
2,096,925,4L8

2,336,503,I92

2,557,636,065
2,697,874,22I
2,956,65L,040

3,rr2,877,2r0
3,278,688,992
2,700,475,87I
2,789,997,608

Active Members,
Employm
Financed
Portion

# L,522,5L6,727
I,684,513,116
I,82T,748,962
L,967,248,rr0
2,210,527,169
2,438,57Q,2L0
2,850,T84,2I8
2,9i5,328,745
2,r04,r34,523
2,233,472,427

Net Assets
Available

for
Benefits

fiz,062,983,466
2,239,6s1,064
2,455,595,491
2,66L,597,552
2,863,r37,I4O

3,Q65,4r2,5L7
3,294,64r,307
&,575,939,975
4,L96,486,L05
4,746,369,593

Percentage ofAccrued
Liabilities Covered By
Net Assets Availa,ble

For Benefits
g)_ (2) (3)
LOOVy BITo OVo

100 79 0

100 78 0

100 77 0

100 ?8 0

100 76
100 77 0

100 B0
100 100 22

100 100

NOTE: The ultimate test of financial soundness is the

System's ability to pay all promised benefits when due.

The System's progres$ in accumulating assets to pay all

promised benefits can be measured by comparing the

present assets of the System with (1) member contribu-

tions, (2) the liability for future benefits payable to cur-

rent retirants and beneficiaries, and (3) the employer-

financed portion of the liability for benefits payable to

active plan participants.

In a system that has been following the discipline of

level percent ofpayroll financing, the liabilities for active

member contributions on deposit (1) and the liabilities

for future benefits to presenl retired lives (2) will be fully

covered by present assets (except in rare circumstances).

In addition, the liabilities for service already rendered by

active members (3) will be partially covered by the

remainder of present assets. The larger the funded por-

tion of liability (3) the stronger the condition of the

System. Liability (3) being fuliy funded is rare.

In Table I, the entry age normal actuarial sost method

was used to determine the actuarial liability. The entry

age normal actuarial cost method is the same method

used to determine employer and employee csntribution
rates.

N Scly'.tr1 f'ynl2loyees .l?e.tlreatetrt Systlw uf Olria



Benefit Expenses by Type
Last Ten Years
Table II

Year Ending

I*u lo,
1987
I9BB
1989
1990
l99l
1992
1993
L994
t995
L996

5en'ice

sI18,726,020
129,330,510
144,870,006
162,866492
173,348,Ots0
r85,750,980
198,878,409
212,437,M3
226,834,067
24I,967,864

Disability
$12,780,695

r4,I38,302
r5,968,925
i8,077,033
19,854,430
22,258,565
24,987,872
27,367,790
3I,129,681
34,235,98I

Health
Care

$51,?28,280
50,568,576
55,688,417
62,746,0L4
71,633,065
81,851,492
87,079,286
85,496,108
88,340,780
90,2I2,21I

Surrivor

Death
Benefits

and Refunds
fiL0,862,247
10,453,137
12,119,325
13,242,633
13,076,201
13,498,I11
14,288,72I
14,7L3,825
18,62L,742
t9,054,866

36,750
37,877
39,408
40,856
4r,773
42,690
43,166
44,024
M,732
45,555

DiTliIrY
2,977
3,084
3,204
3,349
3,518
3,66I
3,960
4,081
4,285
4,497

42,670
43,967
45,675
47,3L7
48,467
49,595
50,405
51,479
52,413
53,478

Total

B6
84
84
84
84
84
B4
B3
B3
/ o

376
376
t t J

373
41,

a1' l

37L
a n t

o r r

J ( J ,

t q ?

L92
r92
I92
r92
r92
L92
L92
193
193

2,943
3,006
3,063
3,IT2
3,r76
3,244
3,279
3,374
3,396
3,426

z

2
z

L

a

2
2
2
2

13
1 2

] Q

L J

t3
I D

13
13
r3
13

49
49
49
49
49
49
49
49
49
49

2

4
4
4

Number of Par*icipating Employers
Last Ten Years
Tahle N

Year
l987
19BB
1989
1990
L99L
1992
L993
1994
I995
1996

Total
:

to9

768
766
766
765
764
764
765
766
757

Lncals Cities

Survivor

$8,958,365
9,479,476

10,154,865
10,886,380
11,358,736
11,814,42I
T2,666,260
13,067,061
13,854,968
L4,268,272

Number of Benefit Recipients by Type
tast Ten Years
Table III

Year Ending
June 30

l98?
I9BB
l9B9
1990
1991
L992
I993
I994
1995
T996

Counties

Service

Villages
49
49
49
49
49
49
49
&9
49
49

Colleges Technical Yocational

Total

$203,055,607
2r3,970,00r
238,801,538
267,8t8,552
289,270,462
315,173,569
337,900,548
353,082,227
378,781,238
399,739,r94

Other

4

o

4
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Retirement Averages
Last Ten Years
Tahle V

Year Ending

Jqp 30
L.987
T9BB
l9B9
r990

1991
1992
1993

I994
1995
'1,996

Year Ending

,Iy'" l0
T9B7
I9BB
t9B9

1990
1991
t992
r99ts
r994
r995
r996

Service

Credit

L7.635
19.019
19.231
18.734
18.909

t9.s2B

2A.2tL
20.551
20.20r
20.460

Service

Credit

L3.484
13.086
14,B2I
14.018
14.517
14.595

15.]23
15,148
15.208
t4.694

Service Retirement

Monthly

Amount

$328.76
e78.29
431.17

424.85
447,56

51?.85
549.0L
589.07

58?.84
603.12

DisabiUty Retirement

Monttrly
Amount
ffi466.02
509.27
562.42
551.12

598.58
674.50
709.53

738.03
790.66

794.67

Ag"
63.77
62.r3
61.40
60.75
63.35
63.2r
63.45
63.34
63.50

63.37

fue
57.42
54.64
D.!.D L

53.5r
55.56

54.80
56.42
58.20
57.04
5:).  {O

Sala"y

$10,458
rt,9B9

13,015
13,034
13,352
r5,298

15,984
L6,704
16,935
r7,243

$12,184
13,060
13,433
13,539
L4,4r4
T5,644
L6,652

L7,370
IB,2B2
LB,T72

42 Sclror., / f ar'ployeesRetirernent Systew a/ '  Ohro
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Inveshnent Distribution by Market Yalue
as ofJune 30, 1996

Venture Capital (0.

Domestic $tocks

Ten Year Investment Comparison
at Market Value (in billions)

6.0

Canadian Bonds (0.6%)

U.S. Gov't & Agency (19.9%)

U.S. Corporateo (6.77q)

Shod Term (12.0e/")

Real Estate (6.1%)

International Stocks (9.zold

1993 1994 1995 1996

Real Estate

1987 1988 1989 1e90 1991 1992

I Equities S Fixed-lncome n

M . 9c l t uu l  f 'mp luuees
t A  r )  r  / ' \ 1
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Investment Report

Innoduction

The investment program of SERS is governed by state
statute and by Board adopted policies. Besides limiting
the amount of monies which san be invested in specific
asset classes such as equities, real estate and venture
capital, the state stetutes also establish financial stan-
dards for each asset owned by the System. Furthermore,
state statutes require that SERS' Board and its fiducia-
ries discharge their duties solely in the interest of the
Fund's participants and beneficiaries. And finally, state
statutes and Board policy require the prudent diversifi-
cation of the System's as$ets.

Board policy defines further the risk levels, return
requirements and diversification methods that SERS'
fiduciaries should adhere to as they manage the
Systemos investment portfolio. Board policy has
charged SERS'fidusiaries with accepting a moderate
amount of risk, diversifying the assets of rhe portfolio
by asset class and by investment style, and achieving
competitive investment returns within each asset class.

Asset Allocation

During the year ended June 30, 1996, SERS' staff,
investment consultant and Board were involved in the
selection of several money maRagers to actively manage
the fixed-income portfolio and part of the equity portfo-
lio. Active management of part of the equity portfolio is
expected to increase the overall diversification and
total return of SERS' Total Fund. In the Fall of 1995,
four fixed-income managers were hired to actively man-
age all of SERS' fixed-income portfolio. Six equity
managers were hired in the Spring of |gg6 to actively
managi: a portion of SERS' domestic equity portfolio
and two international equity managers were hired in the
Summer of 1996 to actively manage a portion of SERS'
international equity portfolio. Approximately 60Vo of.
the domestic equity and international equity portfolios
will continue to be managed passively.

As of June 30, 1996, SERS' Total Fund was diversified
in the following manner:

. Domestic Equities were 44.87o of the Fund versus
our target of 45Va.

. International Equities were 9.2Vo of the Fund versus
our target ofIOVa.

. Dornestic Fixed-Income was 2'l ,2Vo of the Fund ver-
sus our targetof.2BTo.

. Real Estate was 6.1Vo of the Fund versus our target
of IOVo.

. Venture Capital was 0.7Vo of the Fund versus our
target ofZVo.

. Cash Equivalents wereI2Vo ofthe Fund vercus our
Iarget of 57o.

As can be seen from the above, SERS' Total Fund is
very close to the targets established by the Board
except for real estate and cash equivalents.

Fund Perfotwance

Major asset class returne for the fiscal year ended June
30 were very attractive for all asset classes except fixed
income. Retums ranged from26.07o for the Russeil
3000 Index (domestic equities) to 5.OVo for the Lehman
Brothers Aggregate Boncl Index.

The return for SERS' Total Fund for the year ended
June 30 was 16.BVo versus 16.4%o for the Total Fund's
benchmark. For the ten years ended June 30, the
retum for the Total Fund was I0.0Vo versus 9.67o {or
the Total Fund's benchmark.

As mentioned previously, domestic equities was the
best performing asset class. SERS' domestic equity
portfolio retumed 25,0Vo andI3.2Vo, respectively, for
the one- and ten-year periods ended June 30. This
compared guite well to the Russell3000 one- and ten-
year returns of 26.0Vo and, I3.2Vo, respectively.

Seltool €,aplayees Retiretasns slystent of Ohia
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International equities was the second best performing

asset class. SERS started investing in international equi-

ties in December of L994, so the fiecal year ended June
30, 1996 is the first full year of performance for interna-

tional equities in SERS' portfolio. SERS' international

equity portfolio returned 22.2Vo for the fiscal year. The

MSCI-EAFB 507o Hedged Index also returned 22.2Vo f.or

the year. All of SERS' international equities were in an

EAFE Index Fund during the fiscal year. As mentioned
earlier, two active international equity managers were

selected in the Summ er of 1996 to diversify the interna-

tional portfolio further and to add additional return.

SERS'real estate porlfolio continues to do quite well

especially in the more recent years. SERS' real estate
portfolio returned L0.B7o and.3.27o for the one- and ten-

year periodo, respectively. The NCREIF Property Index

returned B.3Vo and A,IVo f.or the one- and ten-year peri-

ods.

SERS' fixed-income portfolio performed marginally better

than its benchmark during the year; buto as w&s men-

tioned earlier, the fixed-income markets did not perform

as well as the other asset classes during the fiscal year.

SERS' fixed-income portfolio returned 5.27o and B.6Vo

for the one- and ten-year periods, respectively. The

Lehman Brothers Aggregate Bond Index retumed 5.0Vo

and B.6Vo for the one- and ten-year periods.

Fund S*ategy

Two goals for the fiscal year just ended were: one? to fully

diversify the domestic and international equity portfolios

by management style; and two, to increase the number of

active fixed'income managers' As mentioned earlier, four

active fixed-income manager$, six active domestic equity
managers and two aetive international equity managers
were approved to be hired during the fiscal year. This
completes the objectives of further diversifying the

domestic and international equity porlfolios; and increas-
ing the number of active fixed-income managers.

Two new goals have been established for the Total Fund
for the coming {iscal year. The first goal is for SERS'
staff, investment consultant and the Board to review
SERS' assets and liabilities to see if asset class targets
need to be revised. If revisions are indicated, SERS' staff
and investment consultant will determine the most effi-
cient manner in which to move the asset classes to the
new target levels. It is expected that the asset/liability
review will be completed during the first haH of the com-
ing fiscal year with any changes being implemented dur-
ing the second half of the fiscal year.

Another goal for the Fund is to review Ohio-based money
manager$ to see if there are any who have a style and per-
formance record that would be complementary to SERS'
existing external manager$. SERS' staff, investment con-
sultant and Board have scheduled this search to occur
during the first halfofthe fiscal year. It is anticipated
that approved Ohio-based money menagers will he fund-
ed during the second half of SERS' fiscal year.

In addition to these tlvo new goals, the foremost responsi-
bility of SERS' staff and Board is to ensure that the Fund
continues to be managed in the most prudent manner
possible and that the performance of the Fund cqntinues
to be among the best in the country, given the legal
restrictions and risk tolerance established by state
statutes and Board policy.
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Time-weighted Rates of Return
for the Years Ended June 30

Stock Domeetic
SERS
Standard & Poor's 500
Russell 3000 Index

$tock International
SERS
MSCI-EAFE \OVoU.S. $ Hedged Index

Fixed-income
SERS
Lehman Bros. Aggregate

Real estate
SERS
NCREIF(one quarter in arrears)

Short+em
SERS
Salomon Bros. 30 Day Treas. Bill

Yenture capital
SERS

Total poffolio
SERS

*Policy Benchmark

1996

25.QVo
26.r
26.4

2t.2
, , ,

5.2
5.0

l0.B
8.2

5.8
5.2

I16.6

16.BVo

L6^47o

1995

24.$V;o
26.L
24.9

11.3
T2.5

10.6
1 0

5.5
4.8

64.3

16,64o

t6.070

L994

I,7VO
t.4
1.0

(2.5)
(1.3)

7.2
4.5

3.5
J , l

49.9

O.6Vo

I.07o

1993

12.7Vo
L3.6
16.0

10^4
11"8

(3.e)
(3.3)

3.3
2.9

20.6

9.7Vo

9.44o

14.9
0.0

(5.8)
(7.1)

4.9
4.4

LWZ 3{ear

T3.07o L6.6Vo
L3.4 L7.2

- L6.7

Annualized Rates of Return

S-Year l0-Year

Ll,L% L&.2V0
L5.7 13.8
16.2 r3.2

4.5
5.3

9.5
5.7

4.9
4.4

3.5
I .4

3.2
4.1

7.7 8.6
8.3 8.6

4.6 6.2
4.0 5.2

4.L 74"7

Il.0Vo Il.L%o

9.34o LO.BVo

47.7 19.8

ll.BVo LQ'O%o

LO.LVo 9.6Vo

Source: Frank Russell Company

AI returns are reported gross of fees and in accordance with the Asgociation for Investment Mariagement and Research (AIMR) standards.

*Policy Benchmark (457o of Russell 3000, 57o MSCI-EAFE Hedged, 57o MSCI-EAFE Unhedged, 304,o LehmanBrothers Aggregate,

I07a NCREIF (l qtr. in arrears), 57o Salomon Bros. 30 day T-bill)
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Investment Pordolio
As of June 30, 1996

Combined Fixed-Ineome Potfalio

Description

Canadran Bondg:

On[ario Province

Quebec Hydro

Quebec Hydro

Quebec Hyclro

Quebec Province

Quebee Province

Total Canadian Bonds

Corporate Bonds:

Anheueer Busch Cos.

Asset Sec. Corp. I995-MD4 Al

Asset Sec. Corp. I996-D2 Al

Associates Corp.

Associates Corp.

Associates Corp.

Baltimor-e Gas & Electric Co.

Banc One Auto Trust Ser 1996-4 A

Banc One Auto Trust Ser 1996-8 A

Bank One Corporation

Bankamerica Corp,

Boatmens Auto Trust Ser 1995-4 AB

Caterpiilar Financial Asset Trust

Chase 1994-G AP PO

Chase 1994-H AP PO

Chase Manhattan Creclit Card SER 1996-3

Chemical Bank of NY

Chesapeake & Potomac Tel

Coca-Cola Company

Consolidated Rail Corp.

Dayton Hudson Corporation

Dayton Hudson CorPoration

Dean Witter Discover & Co.

Discover Card Trust SER 1991-D A

Drexel X 3 PO

Ford Holdings

Ford Motor Company

Ford Motor Company

Ford Motor Credit Company

Reting Coupon

M B,OOO
AA3 8.050
A2 9.500
L2 7.500
A2 7.L25
A2 6.500

Mature
Date

L}lL7l0r
07107124
rVl5/30
04l0TlL6
02109124
aurT/06

LzlOIl99
o8lL3l29
o2lL4l29
10/15/03
L2lL7l02
12123102
04lr5la4
LOlr5l02
o2lLsl03
o9l01l02
oslT2loS
05/r5/00
07125102
o4l2sl25
0612s125
02lLsla4
06/01/05
oB/01/31
09lr5l98
06lL5l2O
0410U22
06lrslzl
08/r5/oo
rolL6/00
r2l0UrB
03/01/00
0U0Ll97
021L5132
LOl01196

$10,000,000
4,000,000
4,500,000
2,000,000
4,665,000
6,000,000

$10,795,330
4,360,131
5,204,476
r,958,239
4,360,423
5,638,2I7

$10,479,300
4,244,L60
5,286,I50
t,948,340
4,262,737
5,623,980

Market

ParYalue Book Yahre Yalue

AI 8.750
AAA 7.100
AAA 6,920
Al 5.750
AA3 7.600
A1 7.6s0
A1 5.500

AAA 6.100
AAA 6.s50
A1 7.250
A2 7.125

AAA 6.100
AAA 6,300
AAA 0.000
AAA 0.000
AAA 7,040
A1 7.000

AA3 8.300
AA3 7.8?5
M 9.?50
A3 8.875
43 9.700
A2 6.750

AAA B.OOO
AAA 0.000
A1 9.250
A1 5.200
lL2 9.950
At 8.000

$31,165,000

$10,000,000
J ,O t  r rza+

6,753,339
10,000,000
7,000,000
5,000,000
5,000,000
2,416,849
2,282,51r

13,390,000
5,500,000
5,000,000
3,100,000
1,628,982
2,169,162
4,7?5,000
6,000,000
3,3?5,000
8,000,000
8,000,000
3,000,000
6,000,000
6,000,000
5,000,000
3,136,60I
6,000,000
3,I50,000
8,000,000
2,950,000

$32,312,8r6

$10,336,536
3,267,5$2
6,5?0,618
9,720,8L5
7,000,000
5,000,000
4,797,72I
2,4r5,BLL
2,282,'rL

t3,657,336
5,838,120
4,994,r57
3,098,110

992,343
L,252,2r4
4,774,274
6,23L,454
3,980,290
8,136,348

10,062,889
3,3r2,r89
7,28L,378
5,975,95r
5,r43,750
2,429,8O2
5,929,432
3,1 11,1 15

10,106,4r8
2,952,274

$31,840,667

$10,612,600
&,3L2,227
6,550,739
9,r78,400
7,234,010
5,179,900
4,467,200
2,406,069
2,293,856

13,489,086
5,420,470
4,9L3,950
3,085,430

895,940
1,187,616
4,830,199
5,841,840
3,626,2Q1
8,234,960
9,746,400
3,268,740
7,025,880
5,975,880
5,I43,75Q
2,345,582
6,4&,BBQ
3,L36,644

10,002,640
2,964,455
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Investnent Pordolio (
Go.mbined Fixed-Ineame Porffolio (Cantinued)

Description

Coryorate Bondo: (Continued)
Gen. Motors Accept, Corp,

General Electric Capital Services

Golden West Financial

Green Tree Financial Corp. 1995'8 A2

Green Tr.ee Financial Corp. 1995-9 A.2

Green Tree Financial Corp. 1996-A Al

Hanson America, Inc.

Health Care Receivables l44A

ITT Hartford

Inter-American Dev Bank

J.C. Penney & Company

Loews Corporation

May Department Stores

Nationebank Corporation

Nomura Asset 1996-MD5 AIB

Northwest Airlines Corp,

Norwest Corporation

Norwest Corporation

Pepsico Incorporated

Pepsieo Incorporated

Premier Auto Trust 1996-1 A4

Pru-Bache CMO 14-H IO

Pru-Bache CMO 4-B PO

Ralston Purina Company

Union Electric Company

Union Electric Company

Union Pacific Equipment Trust

Wal-Mart Stores

Wal-Mart Stores

Walt Disney Company

Walt Disney Company

Wisconsin Electric Power

Total Coroorate Bonds

Ratiog Coupon

A3 8.875
AdA 7.500
A3 6.7A0

AdA 6.150
AAA 6.000
A,{A 5.550
A3 2.390

AAA 7.200
A1 8.300

AAA 7,125
A1 5.375
A1 7.625
A2 7.625
43 7.750

AAA 7.120
A2 7.670

AA3 6,200
AA3 6.500
,{1 7.625
41 7.750

AAA 6.050

"{AA L204.650
AAA 0.000
AA1 7.750
At 6.875
Ar 7.650

AAr 7.750
A1 5.875

AAi 6.500
AA2 5.800
AI 7.550

AAA 7,254

Matrue
Date

06i01/10
0B/2r135
oTtor/02
out5126
oU15t27
o2trStLB
03/01/01
o7tOLt00
LztOuAT
03ft5123
11/15/98
o6tDv23
08/15/13
0B/15/15
04t13136
0Uo2t15
LztOrlAs
0610t/05
TVOVgB
10/01/e8
04l06100
o3t20/2r
0sl01/18
10101/15
08/01/04
07lrslo}
07lout2
l0/1s/05
06/01/03
rol27l0B
07l15le\
0B/01/04

Par Yalue

$ 9,150,000
10,000,000
3,500,000
5,000,000
5,950,000
6,345,208
9,400,000
1,100,000
7,000,000

10,000,000
6,000,000
9,500,000
5,750,000
6,000,000
2,700,000
6,000,000
5,000,000
6,950,000

12,000,000
20,000,000
5,000,000

4T,390
I,878,907
8,050,000
8,000,000
7,000,000
4,847,686
I,000,000
6,000,000
4,500,000
s,000,000
1,000,000

Book Yalue

$ 10,887,728
I0,057,281
3,47t,6L0
4,gg7,0oB
5,975,404
6,339,154
7,815,513
1,100,000
7,4r5,813
9,546,175
5,9L3,722
9,0r9,197
5,945,9&2
6,000,000
2,697,5Q8
6,000,000
4,992,667
6,813,712

12,188,416
20,635,3L7
4,966,326
L,333,642
L,443,476
B,TOB,747
8,580,263
7,520,194
4,920,74Q

996,715
6,2r5,470
4,329,94L
5,088,651

998,104

Market
Yalue

$ 10,207,100
9,989,600
3,434,865
4,962,500
5,9Q3,471
6,2r3,989
8,058,620
1,100,000
7,408,030
9,344,600
5,853,42O
8,997,925
5,748,045
5,994,960
2,632,500
6,473,r40
4,640,150
6,603,751

12,288,720
20,M9,200
4,959,350
1,469,376
L,396,253
7,956,70I
7,858,560
7,204,D4
4,920,740

913,300
5,823,ooo
3,985,785
4,867,100
1,007,180

s355,661,859 fi362,965,874 $357,101,665
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Investment Pordolio (Continued)
Conbined Fixed-Income Porffolio (Continued)

Description

U.S. Government & Agencyr
FHLMC D70628
FHLMC 1693-H
FHLIUC CBO39B
FFILMC CMO L-5
FHLMC CMO M-6
FHLMC CMO SER }730 A
FHLMC CMO sER 1593 A
FHLMC CMO SER ]725 A
FHLMC D64097
FHLMC GMC D.1979
FHLMC GOLD D1-6930
FHLMC GOLD D1-9553
FHLMC GOLD C9OO41
FHLMC COLD D?0745
FHLMC GOLD COOATg
FHLMC GOLD COO441
FHLMC GOLD CBO334
FHLMC GOLD C8O35B
FHLMC GOLD D62691
FHLMC GOLD D62902
FHLMC GOLD D63220
FHLMC GOLD D635BO
FHLMC GOLD D64528
FHLMC GOLD D646OO
FHLMC GOLD D65029
FHLMC GOLD D65037
FHLMC GOLD D65O6B
FHLMC GOLD D65536
FHLMC GOLD D65985
FHLMC GOLD D65990
FHLMC GOLD D66042
FHLMC GOLD D66045
FHLMC GOLD D66T24
FHLMC GOLD D6623I
FHLMC GQLDD66272
FHTMC GOLD D66382
I'HLMC GOID D66408
FHLMC GOLD D66441
rHLMC GOLD D66460
FHLMC GOLD D66461
FHLMC GOLD D66463 T

FHLMC GOLD D66490

Rating

AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
A-AA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA

Mature
Coupon Date

6.500 0410v26
6.000 L2lrSloB
6.500 0slou26
7.900 05i01/01
8.800 r2l0r/L5
7.000 07lr5lr7
7.000 L2lr5ll7
7.000 09lL5lI6
8.500 0Tl0U23

12.450 09tr5109
7.s00 0310U22
8.000 05lorl22
6.500 1r/0v13
7.000 0gl0u24
7.500 o9t0v2s
7.500 0Ltov26
7.500 0gl0ll2s
7.500 rrl0Tlzs
7.500 ogloll2s
7.500 o8,l0vzs
7.500 0910U25
7.500 09loLl2s
7.500 wl0u25
?.500 wl0v25
7.s00 ru0u25
7.500 lu0Ll25
7.500 ru0u25
?.s00 ruorl2'
7.500 r2lauzs
7.500 r2l0Ll25
7.500 r2loLl25
7.500 LrloLl2S
7.500 t2lQu25
7.500 r2l0u2s
7.500 \2l0u25
7.500 r2lou25
7.500 1210u25
7"500 L2l0u25
7.500 r2/olt25
7,500 r2t0u25
7.500 r2loLl25
7.500 t2l0U25

ParYalue

$12,070,888
20,000,000

r,oog,ggg
2,756,372
4,640,893
2,636,253
2,BB3,Bl0
2,731,227

13,947,978
3,138,686
2,067,368
r,266,953
4,632,864
2,207,976
],666,408

B49,Q7Q
2,324,367

948,923
1]7,309
194,460
658,2Q4
951,885
973,325
356,566
113,384
485,L77
t69,064
204,76r
470,036

r,761,392
r,739,992

946,325
r84,937
?11,9s1
204,776
442,350
136,056
460,036
B1B,73B
3t8,379
378,849

I,852,953

Book Yalue

$r1,139,273
I8,726,TQ3

932,360
2,756,372
4,562,466
2,654,443
2,9r4,286
2,75I,977

L4,509,20L
3,A44,62r
2,ALB,2L9
1,270,094
4,682,L22
2,L35,527
r,695,517

865,119
2,366,753

965,897
I19,554
198,145
670,671
968,935
990,7L9
363,346
115,554
494,3ffi
t72,ts06
208,877
478,938

L,792,766
1,770,983

963,180
lBB,439
725,44Q
204,578
450,234
138,634
468,750
833,321
324,066
385,597

I,885,954

Market
Yalue

$11,309,335
r8,493,600

946,279
2,783,073
4,664,098
2,633,775
2,ggL,Qgg
2,726,993

L4$74,374
3,197,536
2,042,973
r,285,399
4,340,577
2,126,ggg
r,646,7M

839,051
2,296,940

937,726
lI5,92s
T92,L65
650,437
940,653
961,839
352,359
r12,046
479,452
L67,069
202,3M
464,489

L,740,608
r,719,460

935,L59
r82,754
703,550
198,406

'437,130

134,451
4s4,607
849,077
3r4,622
37+,379

1,83},OBB
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Investment Pordolio (eontinued)
eambined Fixed-Ineome Porffolio (Continued)

Description

U.$" Government & Agency: (Continued)
FHLMC GOLD D66618
FHLMC GOLD D667OO
FHLMC GOLD D67135
FHLMC GOLDD67247
FHLMC GOLDD67429
FHLMC GOLD D67573
FHLMC GOLD TBA
FHLMC GOLD TBA
FHLMC MUL.FAMzzOO2z
FHLMC MUL-FAM4gOOIl
FHLMC PC 160080
FHLMC PC }70034
FHLMC PC 170068
FHLMC PC L7OO72
FHLMC PC I7OO73
FHLMC PC I7OO77
FHLMC PC I7OO91
FHLMC PC }81528
FHLMC PC T8677I
FHLMC PC 2TB42I
FHLMC PC 280327
FHLMC PC 282425
FHLMC PC 290357
FHLMC PC A01569
FHLMC PC COO427
FHLMC PCD65452
FHLMC POOL COO349
FHLMC POOL D53306
FHLMC POOL D66768
FHLMC 124
FHLMC 1A
FHLMC COOT
FHLMC STRIP T4O B IO
FNMA CMO G1994-6 Class PY
FNMA 190534
FNMA i90544
FNMA 1992-110 I
FNMA 1S92-166J
FNMA 1993-103 Class PV
FNMA 1993.78 G
FNMA 2160
FNMA 250453
FNMA 250477
FNMA 269256

Rating Coupon

AAA 7.500
AAA 7.500
A4A ?.500
AAA 7.500
A,{A 7.500
AAA 7.500
AAA B.OOO
AAA 7.000
A,AA 9^250
A4A 10.000
AAA 10.500
AAA 12.000
AAA 12.500
AAA 14.000
AAA 12.500
AAA 12.500
AAA 12.500
AAA 13.000
A3A 9.250
AAA 9.000
AAA 9.000
AAA 9.000
AAA 9.500
AAA 9.000
A,AA B.OOO
AAA B.OOO
AAA 7,000
AAA 7.000
AAA 7.000
AAA 9,250
AAA 10.150
AAA 7,OOO
AAA 9.500
AAA 7350
AAA 6,000
AAA 9.000
AAA 7.000
AAA 7.000
AAA 7.000
AAA 6.500
A.4A 8.000
AAA 6.000
AAA 6.000
AAA 6.000

Mature
Date

1LlOLl26
72tQU25
oU0Lt26
rzt0y25
0Ll0T126
ov0r126
07117t26
07tou26
0610r102
0el0U97
05/01/09
07/01/r0
10/or/12
L2l0u12
0i/01/13
04lour3
0Iloll14
0B/0i/10
06/01/t1
07t0uo2
09lou16
LzlOuL6
0u0Ur7
TIIOLIL9
TOt0U2s
Lu0Ll25
0410L124
0510Lt24
0910r/24
11/15/r9
041r5t06
09t17t7r
09loLl2r
051r7124
t2l0Ll0B
09loLl22
12125106
05t2s107
02t25t14
II/25107
05lQLl09
I 1/01/I0
01/01/1]
01/0r/09

Par Yalue

$ 198,865
174,453

1,076,305
t,765,845

s02,400
'7,025,099

2,205,000
28,000,000
B,BBB,719
2,319,rr4

43,975
8,227
6,061

53,776
I,I38
8,561
2,935

22,399
r,759,370

42L,448
347,449
436,254

1,120,523
2,555,458
3,679,662
2,886,242
5,367,033
5,33r,748
8,130,399
T,Q16,842
1,603,038
6,956,777
3,I10,202

775,00Q
TB7,r44

2,487,786
6,35B,ooo

11,000,000
2,618,rrg
4,917,000
2,969,557

5Q6,617
2,7L8,998

476,977

Book Yalue

ff 202,632
L77,757

1.,096,696
r,799,497

511,9t  7
7,158,374
2,206,378

26,89r,563
8,837,156
2,3I9,469

43,975
8,227
6,061

53,776
1,I38
8,561
2,935

22,399
r,757,566

42r,448
345,642
433,987

r,r20,327
2,7Q4,083
3,777,532
2,972,480
5,224,r30
5,i90,306
7,897,s50

\4r4,44e
1,603,038
6,777,Or4

870,340
8r3,774
t82,495

2,626,r29
6,339,535

10,819,067
892,430

4 . ' 7 ' 7 6  L 1 L

3,07r,882
494,449

2,643,683
465,r95

Market
Value

$ 196,518
r72,394

1,063,604
r,745,008

496,47r
6,942,203
2,207,095

26,978,000
9,784,524
2,497,384

47,929
9,346
7,003

63,202
1,3t4
9,923
3,391

26,r27
r,853,813

434,52r
365,413
45B,BOB

1,202,063
2,684,9t7
3,713,699
2,9T2,940
5,t69,956
5,L35,967
7,831,851
1,059,102
L,62I,986
6,628,487

978,718
785,656
L77,049

2,619,365
6,306,309

10,835,000
154,631

4,738,759
3,052,913

479,294
2,564,767

451,249

Ket  i re  Ment
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Investment Portfolio (Continued)
Conbined Fixed-Ineome Pofrolia (Continued)

Deseription

U.S, Govemment & Agency: (Continued)
FNMA 269803
FNMA 27T156
FNMA 3O39qB
FNMA 3I5666
FNMA 320290
FNMA 320558
FNMA 320572
FNMA 324421
FNMA 324550
FNMA 324999
FNMA 325342
FNMA 327I19
FNMA 329OSB
FNMA 330572
FNMA 33I588
FNMA 333715
FNIVIA 3340S7
FNMA 44027
FNMA ARM 23367I
FNMA G-16 CLA PO
FNMA G.2 CL B PO
GNMA CMO Series l9B4-2 E
GNMA
GNMA
GNMA
GNMA
CNMA
GNMA
CNMA
GNMA
GNMA
GNMA
GNMA
GNMA
GNMA
GNMA
GNMA
GNMA
GNMA
GNMA II BsBO ARM
GNiVIA Ii 8643 ARM
GN1VIA II 8660 ARM

Rating

AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
A.AA
AAA
AAA

. AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AXA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
A,{A
A3A
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
A,{A
A,{A
AAA
AAA

Mature

Coupon Date

6.000 06101109
6.000 02lou09
9.000 06lot 126
6.000 rzl0rlrc
6.000 0B/01/r0
6.000 09/01/10
6.000 rr/01110
6.000 09/01/10
6^000 09l0yw
6.000 09/01/10
6.000 r2lov10
6.000 10/01/10
6.000 t1/01/10
6"000 1t/01/10
6.000 r2lorllo
6.000 rzl0rl]0
6.000 03/01/oe
7.000 rzlouo7
7.8s4 0el0ll23
0.000 0611512l
0.000 02125120
7.875 04125108
6.500 Various
7.000 Yarious
7.500 Various
/ .u/b varlous

8.00Q Yarious

8.500 Various

9.000 Various

9.500 Various

10.000 Yarious

10.500 Various

11.000 Various

1I.500 Various

f2.000 Yarious

12.500 Yarious

13.000 Yarious

13.500 Yarious

14.000 Yarious

6.500 0u20125
7.000 a6120125
6.500 07120125

ParYalue

$ 25,753
20,778

7,96t,739
r, 0,542

4Q,7L6
175,932
282,605
r85,1BB
166,366
275,726
542,618
28,545

365,276
567,023
26L,613
902,330

14,624,894
tl,248.267
2,650,018

844,M0
2,412,746

Lr,523,544
36,393,372
I5,380,353
84,32L,987
8,90s,800

17,189,6S1
5,90r,750

36,512,108
5,20L,924
I,759,706

4M,522
r,4r9,477

529,L94
175,063

r,L32,929
45,934

t62,7LI
4r,J,lDO

4,759,g9g
B,B78,5BB
2,9&6,146

Book Value

$ 25,r L6
20,265

8,301,666
r,0L3,892

39,706
171,548
275,599
180,593
162,242
268,794
529,L59
27,837

356,216
552,742
2s5,I23
879,942

L4,573,70L
1I,353,303
2,656,s78

67L,745
1,900,399

LI,747,056
35,499,302
L6,250,525
8s,525,008
8,96L,452

1?,613,016
5,893,796

37,32r,099
5,r94,096
I,749,258

484,522
r,0r9,477

s29,r94
I75,063

L,L32,929
45,934

L62,7rT
43,L56

4,791,r05
9,063,84r
3,422,007

Market

Yalue

ffi 24,363
t9,658

8,352,342
984,4L5
38,519

t66,443
267,36L
L75,t99
r57,392
260,853
513,349
27,006

345,573
536,437
247,502
853,659

13,835,003
11,196,975
2,650,018

592,949
L,792,960

rr,642,352
33,908,992
14,825,456
82,774,382
B,9l4,BB4

17,462,87L
6,130,619

38,270,96B
5,596,968
1,918,825

534,593
T,r27,97r

593,76r
200,755

1,311,714
54,015

L93,473
52,029

4,783,689
9,028,459
3,0r9,744
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Investment Porfolio (
Qanbined Fixed-Ineome Porffoho (Continued)

Description

U.S. Government & Agency: (Continued)

GNMA II 8685 ARM

GNMA II B7O3 ARM
GNMA II8720 ARM

Res. Trust Co. 1992-16 85 ARM

Ree. Trust Co. 1992-9 A5 ARM

Res. Tlust Co. I992-Q Bg ARM

Res. Trust Co. 1994-l M3 ARM

Sallie Mae 1996-3 B
Treasury Bond

Treasury Bond

Treasury Bond

Treasury Bond

Treasury Bond

Treasury Bond
Treasury Bond

Treaoury Bond

Tleasury Bond

Treasury Note

Treasury Note

Treasury Note

Treasury Note

Treasury Note

Treasury Note
Treasury Note
Treasury Note

Treasury Note

Treasury Note

Treasury Note

Treasury Note

Treasury Note

Treasury Note
Treasury Note

Treasury Note

Treasury Note

Treasury Note

Treasury Note

Treaaury Note

Treasury Note

Tteasury Note SER N-2000

Treasury Notes

U.S. T-Strips

U.S. T-Strips

Rating

AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AdA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
A,{A
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
ANA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
A}A
A,AA
AAA
AAA
A.{A
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA

Mature

Coupon Date

6.500 08/20t25
6.500 09120125
6.500 10/20/25
6.995 06125/24
6.929 A4/25/22
6.906 09t25130
8.002 09t25t29
6.226 L0t2slLl
7.250 05lT5lt6
7.500 11/15/16
8.750 05n5tT7
8.500 02115/20
8.750 09lr5l20
7.875 02tT5t2I
7.L25 02tI5123
6.250 oBtLS/z3
6.500 08/15/05
7.625 02ft5t25
6.000 02ft5t26
7.875 08/15/0r
6.375 08lr5l02
6.250 02115103
s.750 0B/15/03
5.875 02ft5t04
6150 05131199
7.875 IIII5/04
7.750 0U31/00
7.250 02tr5t98
6.87s m/3r/00
5.375 LIl30t97
5.250 t2t3t/97
5.000 0U3U9B
5.000 02tL5199
9.000 05lt5l9B
9.250 08/15/98
6.875 05/15/06
6.500 05l3lloL
6.625 06/30/01
6.125 0713I/00
6,250 08/31/00
0.000 08ft5t20
0,000 0B/I5/00

Par Yalue

$ 3,114,758
6,253,206
2,913,575

- 8,000,325
2,720,769
3,233,348
5,802,937
5,500,000

1l,3B5,ooo
55,125,000
1,410,000

r2,550,000
2,685,000
5,000,000
9,505,000

860,000
34,800,000
3,260,000

18,580,000
I6,000,000
18,900,000
3,750,000

24,805,000
6,860,000

12,350,000
10,000,000
21,380,000
29,955,000
6,670,000
6,500,000
9,315,000

18,190,000
5,2o0,ooo

I4,500,000
26,100,000
11,610,000
5,510,000

11,690,000
21,700,000
5,500,000

42,400,004
40,73s,000

Booh Yalue

$ 3,153,649
6,340,880
2,94L,404
7,935,540
2,710,274
3,L79,828
5,96Q,785
5,500,000

L2,672,I53
59,507,677
I,827,253

14,788,5t8
3,486,498
5,359,366
9,283,439

786,072
35,8I1,996
3,863,898

r6,338,054
17,016,187
18,395,016
3,628,263

23,747,724
6,462,745

12,433,9L8
t0,426,704
22,136,53L
30,604,313
6,792,457
6,471,108
9,233,085

17,859,M3
5,059,746

15,038,494
26,722,567
11,534,595
5,451,296

LL,622,783
2L,497,835
5,464,085
8,Q20,462

3I,853,999

Market
Value

ffi 3,L49,799
6,323,555
2,935,426
7,790,317
2,673,L56
3,112,098
5,875,474
5,500,000

11,651,864
57,915,428
1,672,838

14,634,430
3,21I,931
5,485,I50
9,6Q7,464

779,642
34,299,576
3,5r2,654

16,475,258
16,949,920
18,749,367
3,683,775

23,622,794
6,556,65r

12,492,766
10,748,400
22,285,229
30,484,005
6,766,gLs
6,446,t80
9,2L7,472

I7,9LL,466
5,044,832

15,231,Bl5
27,670,I76
11,738,755
5,5L2,590

1r,766,686
21,459"347
5,461,335
7,643,024

31,32I,956
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Investment Poffolio (
Conbined Fixed-Income Pordolia (Continued)

Description Rating

U.S. Govemment & Agency: (Continued)

Coupon

0.000
6.500
6.000
6.750

Mature
Date

05lL5ts9
05/15/13
o6t0U97
08/01/98

Book Yalue

7,215,106 $
I7,413,057

BI7
3,384

Market
Yalue

7,077,67L
r7,450,136

786
3,2s7

U.S. T-Stlips

VA Yenclee Mtg Tru$t L994-l 2D

FHA Mortgage Loans

VA Mortgage Loans

Total U^5. Government & Agency

Total Combined Fixed-krcome Portfolio

C ombined Short-Tetw Pot€oho

Cash Equivalents:

Abbott Laboratories

A-bbott Laboratories

Abbott Laboratories

Abbott Laboratories

American Express Credit Corp.

American Express Credit Corp.

American Express Credit Corp.

American Express Credit Corp.

Associates Corp. of North America

Associates Corp. of North Arnerica

Associates Corp. of Nolth Amelica

Associates Corp. of North America

Associales Corp. of North America

Associates Corp. of North America

Banc One Corporation

Banc One Corporation

BellSouth Telecommunication, Inc.

Coca-Cola Company

Coca-Cola Company

Federal Farm Credit Bureau

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Assn.

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Assn.

Federal National Mortgage Assn.

Ford Motor Credit Corp,

Ford Motor Credit Corp.

Ford Motor Credit Corp,

Ford Motor Credit Corp.

Ford Motor Credit Corp.

Fold Motor Credit Corp.

Gannett Company

Gannelt Company

Gannett Company

AAA
AAA
AAA
AAA

Par Yalue

$ 8,465,000 $
18,150,000

817
3,384

$1,105,jr38,521 $r,?f3,480,474 $1,056,9s6,9ee

*r,492,155,3ffi fir,A.ffi,I 59,1& $L,445,799,33I

P-l 5324
P-l 5.330
P-l 5.330
P-l 5.330
P-r 5.284
P-r 5.280
P-l 5.310
P-t 5.350
P-t 5.270
P-l 5.340
P-l 5.360
P-l 5.380
P-I 5.380
P-l s.380
P-t 5.300
P-l 5.300
P-l 5.360
P-r 5.230
P-r 5.260
AAA 5.380
AAA 5.250
AAA 5,380
AAA s.300
P-l s.230
P-r 5.27Q
P-] 5.29A
P-t 5.340
P-l 5.370
P-1 5.380
P-l 5.250
P-l 5.260
P-l 5.300

07129196
07126196
07125t96
oBlo2l96
07t0U96
07lr0t96
07112196
ogl05t96
07t05t96
07t24196
07/23/96
0Bl0u96
07l3ol96
0Bl02l96
a7lrcp6
07lru96
ogl06t96
07109196
07l15196
0710u96
07t03196
07/ot/96
07tL2196
a7loI196
07t02196
07lQBl96
a7lwt96
071L6196
08t06t96
07t08196
07110196
07ft8196

$ 10,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
B,oo0,ooo

10,000,000
6,520,000
2,689,000
2,966,000
9,636,000
6,805,000
8,115,000
?,571,000
6,866,000

1I,267,000
10,000,000
9,440,W0
5,000,000
5,204,000

11,027,000
23,720,000
1I,940,000
25,000,000
7,B00,000
5,896,000

10,000,000
5,927,000

13,576,000
8,000,000

12,000,000
13,488,000
6,I69,000
8,900,000

$ 9,958,622
9,962,986
9,964,467
7,962,098

10,000,000
6,51I,394
2,684,637
2,950,573
9,630,3s8
6,78r,784
8,088,419
7,535,925
6,836,244

11,213,119
9,977,9L7
9,426,102
4,973,20O
5,197,952

Lt,004,444
23,720,000
11,936,5I?
25,000,000
7,787,368
5,896,000
9,998,536
5,920,903

13,54L,766
7,982,I0O

11,935,440
Le,474,237
6,160,888
8,877,725

$ 9,958,622
9,962,986
9,964,467
7,962,098

r0,000,000
6,'Lr,394
2,684,637
2,950,s73
9,630,358
6,781,784
8,088,419
7,535,925
6,836,2M

11,213,119
9,977,917
9,426,102
4,973,20A
5,197,952

I1,Q04,444
23,720,000
1r,936,517
25,000,000
7,787,368
5,896,000
9,998,536
5,920,903

r3,54L,766
7,982,L00

11,935,440
L3,474,23I
6,r60,888
8,877,725
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Investment Porfolio (
Conbined Sltort-Tem Pot{olis (C ontinued)

Description

Caeh Eqprivalents: (Contiuued)

Gannett Company

Gannett Company
General Electric Capital Corp,

General Electric Capital Corp,

General Electric Capital Corp.

General Electric Capital Corp.

General Eleetric Capital Corp.

Great Lakes Chemical Corp.

Great Lakes Chemical Corp.

Great Lakes Chemical Corp.

Great Lakes Chemical Corp.

Great Lakes Chemical Corp.

Great Lakes Chemical Corp.

H.J. Heinz & Co.

H.J. Heinz & Co.

H.J. Heinz & Co.

H.J. Heinz & Co.

H.J. Heinz & Co.

J.C. Penney Funding Corp.

Norlvest Corporation

Norwest Corporation

Norwest Corporation

Norwest Corporation

Norwest Corporation

PepsiCo, Inc.

Pitney Bowes Credit Corp.

Pitney Bowes Credit Corp.

Pitney Bowes Credit Corp,

Procter & Gamble

Procter & Gamble

Repulchase Agreement - J,P. Morgan

Rubbermaid, Inc"

Total Cash Equivalents

Conbined Stock Portolia

Description

Common & keferred Stoeks:
A T & T C o r p .
Advanced Micro Deviees, Inc,

Aetna Life & Casualty Co.

AGCO CP

AK Steel Holdings Corp,

Mature
Rating Coupon Date Par Yalue Book Yalue

Market
Yalue

P-l 5.300
P-t 5.330
P-l s.260
P-1 5.270
P-l 5.290
P-I 5,370
P-l 5.380
P-l s.270
P-l 5.280
P-r 5.300
P-l 5.320
P-1 5.340
P-r 5.340
P-t 5.340
P-l 5.350
P-l 5.350
P-l 5.350
P-1 5.380
P-l 5.340
P-l 5.260
P-r 5.330
P-r 5340
P-l 5.370
P-l 5.370
P-I 5.250
P-l 5.330
P-l 5,340
P-r s.360
P-r 5.270
P-1 5,280

AAA 5.470
P-l 5.330

07112/96
07t19t96
07t08/96
w109196
071r0196
0713U96
08105196
aTlo'3t96
07t0u96
07tI2t96
07lLst96
07125196
07lr7t96
07t22t96
07t25t96
07t29t96
07t23196
a7l3U96
07124196
o7t0u96
47t30196
07t26t96
08105196
0BloI196
07108196
07t23t96
07t19196
08t07t96
07lor196
07lrLl96
o7lov96
a7lL7196

$ 10,000,000
14,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
5,000,000

12,426,0Q0
15,000,000
5,000,000
5,000,000
5,000,000
7,000,000
5,000,000

14,000,000
21,181,000
5,000,000
?,000,000
4,643,000
6,000,000

1I,060,000
g,0o0,0oo

10,000,000
10,000,000
4,000,000

20,000,000
5,000,000
9,089,000
5,900,000

10,000,000
]0,000,000
I0,000,000
56,539,000
7,000,000

Shares

161,600
41,000
59,200
47,000
32,500

$642,360,000 $640822,889 $64Q922,889

$ 9,983,806 $ 9,983,806
I3,962,69Q 13,962,69A
9,997,078 9,997,078
9,988,289 9,988,289
4,993,388 4,993,388

12,370,394 12,370,394
I4,92L,542 L4,92L,542
4,998,536 4,998,536
5,000,000 5,000,000
4,991,903 4,99L,903
6,985,518 6,985,518
4,982,200 4,982,2Q0

13,966,773 L3,966,773
2L,IL5,O2I 2L,TL5,O2T
4,982,161 4,982,167
6,970,872 6,970,872
4,627,820 4,627,820
5,973,100 5,973,100

II,022,267 tr,022,267
9,000,000 9,000,000
9,957,064 9,957,064
9,962,917 9,962,917
3,979,117 3,979,t L7

19,907,517 19,907,517
4,994,896 4,994,896
9,059,395 9,059,395
5,884,242 5,884,242
g,g44,glr g,g44,grr

10,000,000 10,000,000
9,985,333 9,985,333

56,539,000 56,539,000

._6,983,418 6,983,418

Marker
Book Yduo Yalue

10,162,089 $ 10,019,200
74L,546 558,625

4,237,787 4.232,800
1,412,820 1,304,250
1,339,872 1,27I,563

Echaol €,npl,tyees Reti.reMent Systera of Olt io 55



Investment Portfolio (Continued)
Combined Stock Pot{ofto (Continued)

Description

Cornmon & Preferred Stocks: (eontinued)

AJlegheny Teledyne, Inc.

Allstate Corp,

Altera Corp.

Alumax, Inc.

Aluminum Co. Amer.

Ambac, Inc.

Amdahl Corp.

Amerada Hess Corp.

American Brands, Inc.

American General Corp.

American Home Product Corp,

Amencan Internationai Group, Inc.

American Stores Co. New

Amoco Corp.

Amp, Inc.

AMR Corp., Del.

Auheuser Busch Co', Inc,

Archer Daniels Midland Co,

Amstrong World Inclustries, Inc.

Asarco, Inc,

Ashland, Ine.

Atlantic Richfield Co.

Automatic Data Processing, Inc.

Banc One Corp.

Bank of Boston Corp.

Bankamerica Corp.

Bankers Trust NY Corp.

Barnett Banks, Inc.

Baxter International, Inc.

Bellsouth Corp.

Beverly Enterprioes, Inc.

Boatmens Bancshares, Inc,

Boeing Co.

Boise Cascade Cotp.

Bowaler, Inc.

Blinker International, Inc'

Bristol Myers Squibb Co.

Browning Ferris Industries, Inc.

Buriington Coat Factory Warehouse

Bullington Induslries, Inc,

Caldinal Health, Inc.

Caterpillar, Inc.

Champion Irrternational Corp.

Shares

48,500
146,500
20,90O
53,700
51,300
29,600
89,600

.29,r00
36,000
45,500
90,200
74,400
49,000
53,000
54,800
59,300
26,500

350,400
37,000
48,100
23,700
45,600

138,400
I03,000
35,200
48,000
45,700
30,000
61,900
71,000
76,100
47,500
83,300
18,200
76,200

161,100
62,700
31,900
51,600
78,200
27,90O
20,700
24,600

Book Value

$ 1,020,149
5,923,716
1,0t8,862
L,850,77r
3,266,729
1,532,18?
I,082,473
I,689,866
1,585,080
1,595,104
4,BB2,7AL
6,897,567
1,746,Lr5
3,899,316
2,340,678
5,451,801
r,8L5,277
6,664,324
2,106,595
1,645,501

979,047
5,478,270
5,467,229
3,729,899
L,775,3L2
3,689,904
3,351,604
I,B97,MO
2,706,2L5
2,917,035

898,74L
L,907,09L
6,839,004

824,642
3,113,0I6
2,748,083
5,164,451

964,879
579,680
9BB,94B

1,796,533
1,386,797
I,17L,993

Market
Yalue

$ 915,438
6,684,063

794,200
1,631"r38
2,943,338
r,542,900

963,200
1,560,488
1,633,500
1,655,063
5,423,275
7,337,700
r,996,758
3,822,625
2,198,850
5,396,300
1,987,500
6,701,400
2,r32,r25
L,334,775

939,113
5,392,200
5,345,700
3,502,000
L,742,440
3,636,000
3,376,088
I,830,000
2,924,775
2,982,000

913,200
r,905,938
7,257,5I3

666,575
2,867,Q25
2,416,504
5,643,000

925).00
541,800

1,104,575
2,ALz,2BB
1,402,425
1,027,050
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Investment Pordolio (eontinued)
Comhined Stock Po- rdolio (C ontinued)

Description

Common & keferred Stocks: (Continued)

Chase Manhattan Corp New

Chclsea GCA Realty, Inc.

Chubb Corp.

Circus Circus Enterprises, Inc.

Cisco Sys, Inc.

Coca-Cola Co.

Coca-Cola Enterprises, Inc,

Colonial Properties TR

Coltec Industries, Inc,

Columbia/HCA Healthcare

Community Psychiatric Centers

Conrail, Inc.

Corestates Financial Corp.

Cummins Engine, Inc.

Cyprus Amax Minerals Co.

Dana Corp,

Dayton Hudson Corp.

Dean Witter Discover & Co.

Dial Corp New

Disney Walt Holding Co.

Dow Chemical Co.

EMC Corp. Mass

Eastman Kodak Co.

Edison International

Electronic Data Systems Corp.

Enron Oil & Gas Co.

Entergy Corp, New

Equitable Res^, Inc.

Everest Reinsurance Holdings

Exxon Corp.

Federai Express Corp.

Federal Mogul Cory.

Federal National Modgage Association

Federated Depertment Stores, Inc, DE

First Bk Sys, Inc.

First Chicago NBD Corp.

First Colony Corp,
First Data Corp.

First VA Bks^, Inc.

Fleet Financial Group, Inc. New

FMC Corp.

Ford Motor Co. Del.

FPt Group, Inc.

Shares

138,000
IB,l00

120,000
12,200

131,900
175,500
t1,800
21,600

105,000
56,000
92,900
85,l0o
T4,9OO
2IBOO
38,100
90,700
27,700
68,000
89,300
64,700
72,0Q0
52,000
25,700
61,000
56,20O
19,000

286,000
34,700
81,r00
44,000
22,900
57,100

184,500
84,000
24,900
84,400
34,100
8,400

20,r00
29,800
54,I00
28,300
44,000

Book Yalue

$ 9,685,090
52r,46r

5,654,317
48r,748

7,435,823
7,909,767

4r2,228
527,796

I,ts78,075
3,065,BBB

914,508
6,074,322

589,986
1,031,030
r,066,952
3,020,562
2,722,467
3,914,284
2,617,026
3,932,654
6,135,820
I,136,620
L,969,473

994,9L4
3,L52,421

472,95Q
7,913,1I  I
r,046,655
T,97T,154
3,842,902
1,836,486
1,089,411
5,872,000
2,95Q,500
r,416,864
3,6T4,540

933,453
667,r70
815,566

1,337,573
3,644,290
1,038,186
r,927,156

Market

Yalue

$ 9,746,25Q
574,675

5,985,000
500,200

7,468,838
8,599,500

4Q8,575
523,800

1,496,25Q
3,003,000

882,550
5,648,513

573,650
884,213
871,538

2,811,700
2,856,563
3,884,500
2,556,2r3
4,068"013
5,472,000

962,000
T,998,L75
1,075,125
3,020,750

529,625
8,r15,250

98O,275
2,098,463
3,822,500
1,87?,800
r,049,2r3
6,180,750
2,866,500
I,444,200
3,302,150
1,057,i00

669,900
804,000

1,296,300
3,s30,025

916,213
2,024,0Q0
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Camhined Stock Porffolio (Conrtnued)

Description

Comrnon & Preferred Stocks: (Continued)

Gateway 2000, Inc.

General Electric Co.

General Motors Corp.

Geon Co.

Georgia Gulf Corp.

Gillette Co.

Goodrich BF Co.

Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.

Creat Lakes Chemical Corp.

GTE Corp.

Harrah's Entertainment, Inc.

Healthcare Compare Corp.

Hewlett Packard Co,

Honeywell, Inc.

Household International, Inc.

IBP, Inc.

Illinois Cent. Cotp.

Illinois Tool Works, Inc,

IMC Global, Inc.

Informix Corp.

Intel Corp.

International Business Machines

James River Corp. VA

John Alden Financial Corp.

Johnson & Johnson
Kohls Corp.

Lilly Ely & Co.

Litton Inclustries, Ine,

Long Island Ltg. Co.

Lowes Cos., Inc.

Lyondel I Petlochemical Co.

Macerich Co.

Mattel, Inc.

May Department Stores Co.

McDonalds Corp,

MCI Communications Corp.

Mead Corp.

Mellon Bank Corp,

Mirage Resorts, Ine.

Mobil Corp.

Molex, Inc"

Monsanto Co.

Shares

35,000
48,000

I42,500
49,800
40,000
63,900
75,000
44,200
49,000
55,000
24,100
20,200
91,r00
18,500
36,500

115,000
44,704
16,800
50,000
54,200

125,000
76,100

133,000
4,500

L42,700
14,500
76,600
36,800
75,000
68,100
60,000
25,300
62,r0Q
87,800
60,800

154,500
23,100
22,900
10,400
24,QQ0
16,000

I17,000

Book Yalue

ff r,223,457
3,793,392
7,838,279
1,422,288
1,182,480
3,580,585
2,878,875
2,303,237
3,155,453
2,450,140

824,980
953,338

r0,438,224
985,50t

2,566,967
3,233,324
1,340,165
I,l49,59t
1,930,180
T,256,763
9,159,650
8,257,845
3,505,880

106,020
6,664,3rL

511,701
4,377,246

. L,750,824
r,305,255
2,382,206
L,623,600

532,455
L,690,443
4,255,43&
2,9L3,840
4,498,088
r,266,Llr
1.,268,683

566,337
2,755,M0

481,501
3,58L,782

Mark*
Yalue

$ 1,190,000
4,164,000
7,4,63,438
1,120,500
1,170,000
3,985,763
2,803,12s
2,l2T,6QO
3,050,250
2,461,250

680,825
984,750

9,075,838
1,008,2s0
2,774,000
3,176,875
r,268,363
1,136,100
1,BBl,250
1,219,500
9,r79,688
7,533,900
3,507,875

99,563
7,063,650

531,063
4,979,000
I,6oo,B0o
r,265,625
2,46Q,I13
L,447,500

531,300
L,777,613
3,841,250
2,842,40Q
3,959,063
1,198,313
r305,300

556,400
2,697,440

470,000
3,802,500
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Inyestnoent Portfolio (Continued)
Csmbined Snck Podolio (Gontinued)

Description

Common & Prefered Stocks: (Continued)

Motorola, Inc,

Murphy Oil Corp.

Nationsbank Corp,

Niagara Mohawk Power Corp,

Northrop Grumman Corp,

Norwest Corp.

Nynex Corp,

Occidental Pete Corp.

Oracle Corp.

PP&LRes. ,  Inc .

Pacific Gas & Electric Co.

Pacific Telesis Group

Pacificorp

Paine Webber Group, Inc.

Payless Shoesource, Inc,

Penney JC, Inc.

Pepaico, Inc,

Pfizern Inc.

Phalmacia & Upjohn, Inc.

Philip Morris Cos., Inc.

Pier I Imports, Inc.

Pinnacle West Cap, Corp.

PNC Bk. Corp.

Potomac Electric Power Co.

PPG Industries, Inc,

Procter & Gamble Co.

Rayonier, Inc.

Raytheon Co.

Reebok International LTD

Reliance Group Holdings, Inc.

RJR Nabisco Holdings Corp.

Ryder Sys,, Inc,

Sara Lee Corp.

Schering Plough Corp.

Seagate Technoiogy

Sears Roebuck & Co.

Service Corp, International

South West Property Truet

Springs Industries, Inc.

Sprint Corp.

Stone Container Corp,

Sun Health Care Group, Inc,

Sun, Inc.

Shares

44,000
49,240
46,700
68,300
18,000
45,100
35,400
BB,5o0
77,400
38,000
29,200
96,800
80,300
28,500
23,000
24,0O0

231,800
74,600
52,000

136,800
48,500
57,500
51,800

145,900
19,000
55,700
35,000
41,000
60,000

10i,900
IM,6A0
57,600
79,70Q
63,000
9,000

52,000
7,100

38,500
22,700
96,000
79,000
15,700
51,800

Book Value

ffi 2,825,416
2,267,L95
3,800,866

550,498
1,2a6,576
I,6&0,207
1,66r,371
2,374,484
2,718,683"

895,280
676,642

3,284,908
1,630,893

624,89r
599,r50

r,223,946
7,743,244
4,gg4,or5
2,128,433

12,609,896
729,004

I,597,465
r,565,707
3,853,425

976,999
4,868,960
1,298,376
2,r85,L36
L,829,225

846,789
4,576,224
t,678,r76
2,619,978
3,615,309

4I4,540
2,638,116

396,L76
530,701

1,028,616
4,r3r,456
I,174,317

233,r70
r,680,444

Maxket
Yalue

$ 2,761,000
2,232,454
3,858,588

529,325
I,226,250
L,572,863
I,68l,5o0
2,L90,375
3,052,463

897,750
678,900

3,267,000
1,796,675

676,875
730,250

1,260,000
8,228,900
5,324,575
2,307,500

14,227,200
727,500

I,746,563
1,541,050
3,866,350

926,250
5,047,813
1,330,000
2,LL6,625
2,017,500

764,25Q
4,591,050
1,620,000
2,590,250
3,953,250

405,000
2,528,500

408,250
5t4,938

L,I40,675
4,032,000
1,106,000

,rrt "ttc,

L,573,425
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Investment Porilolio (Continued)
C ombined Stack Porffolio (Continued)

Description

Common & heferred Stocks: (Continued)

Temple-Iniand, Inc.

Tenneco, Inc.

Teradyne, Inc,

Texaco, Inc,

Texas Utils. Co.

Town & Counrry TR

Toys R US, Inc.

Travelers Group, Inc.

Tribune Co. New

Tupperware Corp.

U S West, Inc,

Unicom Corp,

Union Pac Group

Unocal Corp,

USX-Marathon Group

USX-U S Stl Group

Valero Energy Corp.

Viacom, Inc.

Warnaco Group, Inc,

Wellman, Inc.

Wells Fargo & Co.

Whirlpool Cory.

Wooiworth Corp.
'WR 

Grace & Co. New

Xilinx, Inc.

Total Common & Preferred Stocks

Description

Stock Commiugled Funds:

Cheasapeake Fund Super-Institutional

MSCI-EAFE Intemational Fund

Growth Fund Class B

Russell Special Small Co. Fund

S&P 500 Flagship Fund

Total Stock Commingled Funds

Total Combined Stoek Portfolio

f f i '  ,  i  Selto', t l  trylpluyees )?q.t l t 'evnenX c9ystetn; r: /  Ort iq

Shares

32,000
61,000
61,000
44,000
85,000
3B,B0o

113,500
48,700
42,000
39,600
59,300

170,700
30,000
70,600
29,100
31,100
61,000
26,800
31,500
22,600
9,600

67,000
11,600
75,600
32,200

Book Value

1,606,368 $
3,430,762
L,288,974
3,69r,996
3,532,005

535,828
3,356,710
L,W8,375
3,023,160
r.575,367
2,050,653
4,9T5,294
2,095,830
2,261,7r1

632,372
1,009,358
1,738,540
1,103,946

9L2,949
542,806

2,326,578
3,9rB,o8s

264,886
5,788,220
I,169,263

Market
Value

I,496,000
3,118,625
1,052,250
3,690,500
3,633,7s0

509,250
3,234,750
2,22L,938
3,050,250
I,673,100
I,897,600
4,758,263
2,096,250
2,373925

585,638
882,463

l,525,ooo
1,041,850

Bl1, t25
528,275

2,295,600
3,324,853

261,000
5,358,1s0
r"022,350

L2,293,s00

Fund Units

5,I51,320
14,674,547
9,705,219

35,981,758
L0,423,640

$ 80,000,000
402,497,554
158,000,000
420,86Q,49L
732,224,79Q

$ 74,179,008
487,928,675
156,290,911
5I4,6Il, l  l0

I,IL4,255,882

8 527,665,738 ffi s25,9I9,937

Market
Book Va]ue Yalue

7 5,936,484 w1",793,582,43L fi2,347,265,586

fi2,321 2&,169 $2,873,185,523



Inveshent Porfolio (Continued)
Yenture Capital Pwtfalio

Description

Alpha Capital Fund II

Brantley III

Cardinal Deveiopment Fund I

Morgenthaler Venture Partners II

Morgenthaler Venture Partners III

Morgenthaler Yenture Partners IV
Primus Capital Fund I

Primus Capital Fund II

Total Veuture Capital Podolio

ReaI Esnte Porfolio

Description

Brantley III

Cigna Open-End RE Account

Hawaiian Properties

L&B SERBO Trust Fund

Monroeville Mall Mongage LoanBVo

Morgan Guaranty Trust Co NY
Phoenix Homelife/CASA Group LLC

Sentinel Real Estate Fund

Total ReaI Estate Portfolio

Total SERS Inveshoent PordoUo

$ 39,114,711 $ 39,114,?11

Par Value

ffi 498,796
1,,741,7Q5

207,416
2,246,498

29,064,700
1,593,876

402,626
3,359,094

Book Value

ffi 498,796
L,741,705

207,4L6
2,246,498

29,064,7Q0
1,593,876

402,626
3,359,094

Market
Yalue

s 498,796
r,74r,705

207,416
2,246,498

29,064,7Q0
L,593,876

402,626

- 3,359,094

=9*..91l]1gl

Market
Yalue

t,741,705
fi 42,120,677

79,794
142,869,IzL
26,1I3,592
51,941,017
15,536,731

. - 45,696,23r

$ 324,357,163

Par Yalue

r,74L,7Q5
fi 4L,674,902

91,860
r4L,206,877
26,113,592
55,624,Q48
I4,tr9,727
45,000,000

Boolc Value

r,74r,705
fi 41,674,902

91,860
I4T,206,877
26,rr3,592
55,624,048
L4,rr9,727
45,000,000

$ 323,831,006 $ 323,831,006

$4,783,875,939 $5323,3?9,6]?
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Inveshnent Policy

A. Putpose,

The purpose of this Statement of Investment Poliey is to

define the Retirement Board's investment philosophy

and objectives for the School Employees Retirement

System of Ohio. This statement sets fo*h policies and

describes the organization and division of responsibili-

ties to prudently implement the Board's philosophy and

objectives in accordance with Section 3309.15 ofthe

Ohio Revised Code. It also establishes the framework

and specific objectives to monitor investment per{or-

mance and proxy voting; and to promote effective com-

munication between the Board and the Investment Staff

and Investment Managers.

The contents of this Statement of Investment Policy and

the associated Guidelines and Objectives are subject to

change at any time by the Board. The Statement will

be reviewed and revised periodically to assure that it

continues to reflect the attitudes, expectations and

objectives of the Board.

B. Background.

The School Employees Retirement System of Ohio was

established by the state legislature to provide retire-

ment and disability benefits for all non-certificated per-

sons employed by the state's school districts. This pur-

pose is sustained by the member and employer contri-

butions and returns realized from investment of those

contributions.

The System is governed by a seven member board,

inclucling the 0hio Attorney General and State Auditor,

with responsibility for the investment function as set

forth in the Ohio Revised Code' In addition to the

investment function, the Ohio Revised Code also sets

forth the fiduciary responsibility of the Board and of

other ficluciaries in discharging their duties with

respect to the fund. This Statement of Investment

Policy incorporates and is subject to all restrictions,

guidelines ar-rd obligations set {orth by the Ohio

Revised Code.

C, Investment Philoaophy,

1. Risk Posture.

The Board realizes that its primary objective is to

assure that the Plan meet its responsibilities for pro-

viding retirement and other benefits. Therefore, it

shall always act to assure that the level of invest-

ment risk in the portfolio shall be prudent and shall

not jeopardize that primary objective'

2. Return.

The Board believes, however, that over the

Iong-term there exists a relationship between the

level of investment risk taken and rate of investment

retuln realized. The Board feels that assumption of

a moderate level of risk associated with investments

is reasonable and justified in order to enhance

potential long-term investment results.

3. Diversification.

The Board seeks diversification by asset class and

by investment approach ancl individual investments

within asset classes to reduce overall pofifolio risk.

4. Liquidity Requirements.

The System anticipates positive cash flow over the

near-term and intermediate-term. Liquidity, for the

pulpose of immediate and intermediate-term benefit

payments, is therefore not a major consideration in

the investment of funcis for the foreseeable future.

D. Investuent Obj ectives.

In defining investment objectives the Board seeks to

enhance the investment returns ofthe fund in order to

permit higher benefits ancl to achieve lower costs.

Therefore, it adopts the following general investment

objectives:

1. Performance Objectives.

a. Maximize Total Return on Assets: Recognizing

that the System's obligations will increase as a

result of in{lation, to maximize the total return on

assets available for the provision of benefits

while operating in accordance with applicable

regulatory restrictione and wirhin prudent para-

meters of risk.

b. Preser"/ation ofPrincipalr To protect the System

from severe depreciation in asset value during

adverse market conditions.
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This objective shall be attained hy broad diversi-
fication ofassets and careful review ofriske"

e. Competitive Results: To achieve investment
results competitive with those of the broad mar-
ket and of similar funds, Lone-term results shall
be emphasized.

2. Risk.

a. Stability: While the Board seeks higher
long-term investment results, it also seeks to
avoid major fluctuations in year-to-year results.

b. Risk Level: The Board seeks to maintain a rea-
sonable degree of total portfolio risk, defined as
that which would be experienced by similar
retirement systems.

3. Other Objectives.

a. Ohio Investmente: Where investment character-
istics, including retum, risk and liquidity, are
equivalent, the Board will give careful consider-
ation to investments which will have a positive

impact on the economy of Ohio.

E. Implementation Apprcach.

In order to monitor and control the activities within the
investment function" the Board has reserved certain
responsibilities for itself. It has also delegated certain
responsibilities to the Investment Stafl to organizations
serving as Investment Managers and, from time to time,
to other consultants or advisors. These are enumerated
in Section F, Investment Organization and
Responsibilities.

In fulfilling its fiduciary duties, the Retirement Board
employs a competent and qualified Investment Staff for
the management of the major portion of portfolio essets.
In those areas where specialized expertise is required,
the Retirement Board employs the services of outside
Investment Managers. Criteria to be used in the selec-
tion of such Investment Managers are also enumerated
in Section F.

The Board has also established a reporting process for

regular and timely review and evaluation of investment

resultc. This is described in Section G, Review and

Evaluation. Finally, the Board has adopteel Investment

Guidelines and 0bjectives for each asset elass and

each invectment management accountability unit within

those asset classes. These guidelines also specify

long-term target ratios for asset allocation, as well as

permissible ranges related to those target allocations'

These guidelines and objectives are regularly evaluated

and updated based on market conditions, investment

results and the recommendations of the Investment

Staff, Investment Managers and other consultants or

advisors.

F. Investment Organization and Responsibilities.

l. Responsibilities of the Retirement Board.

The Retirement Board recognizes its responsibility

to ensure that the assets of the Plan are managed

effectively and prudentiy, in full compliance with

all applicable lawso and for the exclusive benefit of

participants and beneficiaries. The Board believes

it can best manage those responsibilities by delegat-

ing certain specific duties to others, as described

below. In addition, the Boarcl may designate certain

of iis members to act as an Investment Committee or

a Subcommittee from time to time, and may dele-

gate certain decision-making or fact-finding respon-

sibilities to that committee or subcommittee.

Specific responsibilities of the Retirement Boarcl or

its Investment Committee or Subcommittee are as

follows;

a. Ensure that all fiduciaries comply with the Ohio

Revised Code and any other applicable regula'

tions and legislation.

b. Establish investment policies, guidelines and

objectives for the assets of the Plan ancl commu-

nicate them to the Investment Staff and

Investment Managers.
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e. Appoint and discharge those with responsibility

for managing the Plan's assets, including

Investment Managers, eonsultants and any oth-

ers involved.

d. Establish a proxy policy; ancl review proxy goY-

ernanae issues and reports from the Investment

Staff and Investment Managers at least annually.

e. Request, receive and review reports from the

Investment Staff and Investment Managers.

Responsibilities of the Investment Staff'

The Investment Staff, headed by the Executive

Directsr and the Director of Investments, shall

accept the following responsibilities' The Execurtive

Director shall:

a. Obtain necessary reports on the invegtment

results of the Plan's assets on a timely basis as

specified in Section G, Review ancl Evaluation'

b. Retain any consultants or advisors deemed nec-

essary or desirable for assistance in the invest-

ment of Plan assets, and for meeting his respon'

sibilities.

c. Oversee the investment function'

The Director of Investments shall accept the follow-

ing responsibilities:

a. Administer the policies, guidelines and objec-

tives adopted by the Retirement Board of the

School Bmployees Reiirement System of Ohio in

compliance with the relevant sections of the

Ohio Revised Code.

b. Inform ancl communicate to other Plan'fiducia-

ries, including all Investment Managers, the

requirements of the Ohio Revised Code and the

policies, guidelines and objectives adopted by

the Retirement Board, including the proxy poli-

cy, and monitor their compliance.

c. Prepare annually an Annual PIan for the invest-

ment of the Plan's assets with recognition sf the

ta.rget asset mix ratios and the permissible

ranges for asset allocation established by the

Board.

d. Implement the Annual Plano exercising the judg-

ments allowed by the Board as to the asset allo-

cation ranges for that year,

e. Report to the Board or its Investment Committee

any intra-year changes in the Annual Plan, in

the asset allocation among manager$, or pro-

posed changes in the policy, guidelines or okrjec-

tives which the Investment Staff deems desirable

or which are recommended by an Investment

Manager or other consultants or advisors.

f. Oversee the activities of the Investment Staff.

3. Responsibilities of the Investment Managers.

Each Investment Manager, including Investment

Staff with respect to intemally managed assets, shall

accept the following responsibilities for the speci-

fied investment management accountability unit

which it manages.

a. Manage the assets within its control in compli-

ance with the relevant sections of the Ohio

Revised Code and with the policies, guidelines

and objectives adopted ky the Retirement Board.

Vote proxies in accordance with the Retirement

Board's policy and guidelines; and periodically

prepare a report reflecting proxy voting activity.

b. Exercise investment discretion within the guide-

lines and objectives specified, including deci-

sions to buy, hold or sell securities based on the

manager's cunent investmenl strategy and out-

look and compatible with such objectives'
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c. Inform the Retirement Board or the Investment

Committee of any substantial changes in invest-

ment stmteg/, portfolio structure, value o{ assets,

and of any arganizational changes, including that

of ownership, affiliation, organizational strlrcture,

financial condition, or changes in professional per-

sonnel staffing the investment management organi-

zation.

d. Prepare reports for the Board or Investment

Committee prior to any scheduled meetings, but at

Ieast on a quarter\ basis.

e. Recommend to the Board or Investment Committee

any changes in policy, guidelines or objectives

whish the Investment Manaqer believes to be

desirable.

Criteria For Investment Managers.

In instances where the Retirement Board has deter-

mined it is desirable to employ the oervices of an out-

side Investment Manager, the following criteria shall

be used in the selection of such firms:

a" Organizational Qualifications: To be selected, the

organization shall be qualified to serve as a fidu-

ciary to the System, shall comply with all applica-

ble nondiscrimination and affirmative action
requirements, shall adequately address potential

conflicts of interest and shall have a history of pro-

fessionalism and ethical performance.

b. Investment Approachr The approach utilized by

the organization shall be compatible with the

System's objectives and guidelines. It shall also

be complementary to the System's other

Investment Managers.

e. Personnel: The organization shall have an experi-

enced professional staff with adequate research

and support personnel and a credible program or

history demonstrating the ability to retain key per-

sonnel.

d. Performance: The organization and/or its person'

nel shall have demonstrated the ability to achieve
above average pedormanee in implementing the
investment approach for whieh it is being consid-
ered. Satisfactory client referenees shall also be
available,

G. Review and Evaluarton,

The Board shall review and evaluate periodic reports on
the investment results of the Plan's assetc, as described
below, obtained by the Executive Director. In addition,
the Board shall review the periodic reports of each
Investment Manager. In these reviews, it is intended that
greater emphasis shall be given to long-term results than
to short-term results. Following is the intended frequen-
cy for the review and evaluation, although these may be
altered by the Board as deemed necessary:
1
I . Quarterly.

Summary Investment Reports - including highlights

and commentary of investment performanceo asset

composition and holdings for each asset class and

each investment management accountability unit.

These reports shall identify any results which require

the attention of the Board.

Investment Manager Reports - prepared by the man-

ager of each investment management accountability

unit, reporting on the results of the most recent peri-

od.

Annually.

Detailed annual investment reports - these reports will

include the contents of the quarterly summary reports,

as well as additional detail regarding the investment

results for each investment management accountabili-

ty unit.

Written and/or verhal repofis presented by the manag-

er of each investment management accountability

unit. These shall be scheduled on a staggered basis

throughout the year, as determined appropriate by the

Board.

2.
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Pupose

The Sehool Employees Retirement System of Ohio was

estahlished in1937 by the state legislature to provide

retirement and disability benefitc for all non-certificated
personc employed by the state's ?57 school distriots. This

purpo$e is gustained by the member and employer contri-

butions and the income realized from investment of those

contributions.

Adminisnadan

The functioning of SERS is supervised by a seven mem-

ber Board which works in conjunction with the Syetem's

Executive Director. Four of the seven Board members are

elected by the general membership (those who contribute

to SERS) and one is elected by retirees. The Ohio

Attorney General and State Auditor, by virtue of their

elected office, serye as the remaining two Board members

in an ex officio capacity.

The Executive Director is appointed by the Board. This

person oversee$ the administrative operation of the

System, and is aided by four directors. Their areas of

responsibility are finance, investments, member services,

and management information services.

Employer Paticipation

The school employers served by SERS include public

schools within the staters cities, villages and countieso as

well as local districts, vocational and technical schools,

and The University of Akron.

Employers contribute to SERS at the rate of I4.07o of

payroll. Some employers pay the System directly on a

monthly, quarterlyo or annual basis, while others make

payment$ lh.ough participation in the Ohio Department

of Education's School Foundation Fund.

In addition to forwarding appropriate contribution

amounts to SERS, it is the responsibility of the employers

to supply SERS with new membership records, members'

contribution information, and any data needed at the time

of a member's application for benefits or refund of

deposits on termination of employment'

Emplayee Paniciparton

Membership in SERS is divided into several groups

trased on the activity of a member's SERS account,

Member groups are:

A. Active Members - These are personc eurrently

employed by a school employer. Mernbership is

required for most employees working in a position that

does not require certification by the Ohio Department

of Education. These per$ons include clerical workers,

maintenance personnel, bus drivers, food service

workers, playground supervisors, data processing per-

sonnel, etc, Two exceptions to the membership
requirements are: (1) persons with student status

within a school district may choose to become mem-

bers of SERS; and (2) temporary employees for emer-
gency purposes, Active members have an amount

equal to 9.0Vo of their earnings deducted from their

gross salaries for each payroll period. These amounts

are then forwarded to SERS by the payroll officer and

applied to the membey's account at SERS.

B. Inactive Members - These are persons who have con-

tributions on deposit with SERS, but are not currently

employed by a school district in the state of Ohio.

C. Retired/Disabled Memhers - These are persons who

have either (1) met the age and service requirements

for retirement from service; or (2) become eligible to

receive benefits as a result of an injury or illness that

prevents the memher from performing regularly

assigned duties.

D. Member's Survivors ' When a member dies before
retirement, the qualified beneficiaries become eligible

for monthly benefits from SERS.

Refund of Coaaihutions

A member is entitied to a fuli refund of contrihutions with

SERS upon termination of school employment. Only the

money the member has contributed is refundable.

In accordance with the Ohio Revised Code, there is a

90-day waiting period after the member's last day of ser-

vice before the refund can be paid' A refund cancels any

claim to benefits offered by SERS.

The refunded amount, plus interest, may be redeposited

if, at some later date, the memher retums to school ser-

vice or to any other public service with the etate of Ohio'

This purehace may be made after the member has been

credited with 1.5 years of contributing service.

Sewiee Retirement

Members may retire from school employment if they have

attained one of three combinations of age or service:

1. Five years of service and age 60; or

2. Twenty-five yearc of service and age 55; or
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3. Thirty years ofservice at any age.

A member's age is defined to be the actual age a per-

son has reached on the day ofretirement" Any change

of the clate of birth on our records must be substantiat-

ed by submitting proof of date of birrh to the System.

Soruice Credit

Service credit is the actual numher ofyears or fraction

thereof a person worked within a school district or dis-

tricts in Ohio schoois, plus any other free or purchased

service the System recognizes.

Free service is service for which no contributions are

required. This inclucles military sewice performed while

on leave from the school district; service with a school
system before establishment of SERS in 1937; or service

granted for a period (three years or loss) spent offthe dis-

trict's payroll while drawing state worker's compensation

for a school job-related accident.

Purchased service is service for which payment plus

interest is required. The interest rate is 7,57o.1ewice

must be purchased before the date of retirement if it is to

be considered in calculating the member's benefits,
Payment may be made in a lump sum or in multiples of

one month or more so long as the complete amount due is

tendered before retirement, The types of service that can

be purchased are:

Military - A member may purchaoe up to five years of

credit in SERS for active service in the armed forces of

the U.S. There is no restriction placed on time elapsed

between school employment and the time spent in the

military. A member may purchase additional service

credit if the military service includes prisoner of war

time. Purchased credit may not be greater than the mem-

ber's actual Ohio schoql employment credit.

Federal, Other State, or School Service - The member

may purchase credit for service rendered in a school or

government position outside the State of Ohio. The ser-

vice cannot be greater than the member's SERS service

nor can it exceed five years.

Refunded Service - Service lost due to the payment of a

refund may be restored after the member has returned to

work and aecrued 1.5 years ofservice sovered by SERS,

STRS, PERS, PFDPF, or SHPRS. An interest eharge is

payable in addition to the restored funds.

Compulsory Service - This is service for which the mem-

ber should have made contributions while working, but

did not, for whatever reason. The full amount, plus inter-

est, must be paid before retirement benefits are granted.

Optional Service - This is service during a period when

the member was given a ehoice of contributing or refrain-

ing from doing so. The member must pay back contribu-

tions and may be responsible for the employer's share,

Leave of A]rsence - A member retuming to work after a

period of authorized leave may purchase service credit for

the period involved. An employer contribution is required

for this service to be granted, but the employer is under

no obligation to'make payment.

A member who has contributions not only at SERS, but

also at State Teachers (STRS) or Public Employees
(PERS) Retirement Systems is eligible to receive trans-

ferred credit from either or both of those systems. Any

service which is not concurrent with (served at the same

time as) SERS service will be included in determination

of retirement benefits.

Early Retirement Credit

Employers may purchase up to five years of service credit

for their eligible employees under an early retirement

incentive plan authori zed by I9B3 legislation.

Adoption of a plan is optional and only employers may

purchase up to five years of such credit.

Benefit Calculatian

The final average salary is the average of the member's

highest three years of earnings while in the school ser-

vice.

The benefit amount is calculated in this way:

The final average salary amount is multipliedby Z.IVo ro

determine the value of. a year of service credit. This value

cannot be lese than $86. Ifit is, $86 is used. The value is

then multiplied by the number of years of ser-vice credit.

This calculation yields the annual retirement benefit

amount for a person who has service at retirement time.

For "early retirement" (the member is under age 65 or has

less than 30 years ofservice) there is a corresponding

percentage of deerease in the required benefit amount to

allow {or an extencled periocl qf retirement. Reduction
factors are requirecl by Ohio state law.
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Retirement Options

Should the retiring member wish to provide a benefit

amount for a beneficiary upon the retiree's death, this

may be done by the selection of one of the optional retire-

ment plans provided for this purpoce. Optional plans may

be altered by the retired member should the beneficiary

die before the retiree or in the event ofa divorce, with

consent ofthe ex'spouse or a court oi'der.

Disability Retirement

A member prevented from per{orming regular duties on

the job after inculring an injury or illness may apply for

monthly disability benefits. To qualify, the member must

have at least 5 years of service credit. In adc{ition to the

age and service requirements, the member must:

' Have developed the disabling illness or injury after

last becoming a member of SERS;

. Have been recommended for approval by a SERS-

sponsored medical review board;

. Have applied for benefits within 2 years of the last

day ofservice with the school district;

' Not have withdrawn contributions or retired on service
. retirement.

There are two disability plans with differing benefits. A1l

new members are under the new plan. Benefits range

from307o of final average salary to TSVo.Benefits are

lifetime under the old plan, subject to re-examination,

and may be converted to service retirement under the

new plan.

Death Benefrts

The designated beneficiary of any SERS retirees will
receive a $500 lump sum payment upon the retiree's
death. If there is no heneficiary, payment is made to the
per$on responsible for the burial expences or to the
retiree's estate.

Suwivor Benefrts

Qualified dependents of a deceased member may apply
for monthly survivor bene{its. Such benefita are payable if
the member had at least 18 months of Ohio service credit,
three of which were ser-ved in the 2.5 years prior to the
member's death, or if the membcr was receiving a disabil-
ity benefit.

If the meml,er wa$ eligible for service retirement but had
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not yet applied for benefits, the surviving spouse or other

single dependent beneficiary of any age can draw a

monthly lifetime benefit known as the joint survivor

option. Duration of survivor benefits depends primarily

on the age and marital status of the dependent(s).

Heakh Care and Other Benefits

Eligible trenefit recipients receive medical insurance

from SERS. Coverage for a spouse and/or dependent chii-

dren can be provided by means of a monthly deduction

from the benefit. Coverage is offered by the selection of

the Aetna insurance company, for those persons in the

Cleveland area, the Kaiser health plan, or for those in the

central Ohio area, HealthFirst, Inc.

If the benefit recipient participateo in Medicare B, SERS

reimburses the recipient $24.80 per month.

A prescription drug program is available to benefit recipi-

ents of SERS and their dependents who are covered

under the Aetna plan. Participants may either choose to

obtain prescription drugs from a participating local phar-

macy and pay 20Vo of the cost or they may elect to

receive the drugs by mail from a licensed mail order

pharmacy for a minimal fee per medication.

Members retiring after June l, 19B6 must have 10 or

more years of service credit to quahly for the health care

benefits.

Members retiring on and after August l, l9B9 with less

than 25 years of qualified service credit pay a portion of

their premium for health care. The portion is based on

years of service up to a maximum of 75Vo of the premium.

Qost of Living htcreases

Afiter 12 months on the benefit rolls, and each year there-

after, SERS retirees are entitled to an automatic cost of

living increase of up to 37o, based on the Consumer Price

Index. In addition, the legislature has granted several
permanent ad hoc increases to SERS retirees, the last

such increase being in 1988.

Re-Employed Retire es' Annuity

Ohio public system retirees who work in a SERS covered

position are entitled to an annuity at age 65. The annuity

is based on a money purchase formula and may be paid

in monthly payments if the monthly amount is $25 or

more, If the monthly amount is less than $25, the annuity

will be paid in a lump sum.


